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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements

NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short term investment
Restricted cash
Account receivable trade, less allowance for doubtful accounts
of $303,269 and $273,600, respectively
Inventories
Prepaids and other current assets
Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Land use rights, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Lease rights
Customer list, net
Other intangible assets, net

Total intangible assets, net

Other assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Bank loans

Notes payable

Unearned revenues

Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Unearned revenues
Amount due related party

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Convertible Redeemable Series C Preferred stock;

8,177,512 shares designated, liquidation value $12.50 per share;
zero and 8,177,512 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2010
and December 31, 2009

EQUITY
Shareholders' Equity
Preferred stock; authorized, 20,000,000 shares
Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock
liquidation value, 1 share of common stock, $.01 par value;
825,000 shares designated; issued and outstanding,
10,000 shares at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009
Common stock, $.001 par value, authorized 500,000,000 shares
issued and outstanding, 56,675,496 at June 30, 2010
and 37,193,491 shares at December 31, 2009
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
Total shareholders' equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

June 30, December 31,
2010 2009
$ 10,958,776 $ 7,159,369
293,971 287,333
4,096,265 4,714,610
6,013,818 5,725,241
16,381,569 12,979,008
1,015,426 933,657
38,759,825 31,799,218
30,192,149 21,271,405
4,659,014 4,698,567
34,425,728 34,425,728
460,462 633,136
14,312,808 15,079,567
719,803 747,288
15,493,073 16,459,991
317,842 238,941
$ 123,847,631 $ 108,893,850
$ 9,350,135 $ 8,263,718
4,993,129 2,965,525
- 2,197,500
10,902,298 9,793,712
1,432,527 2,273,105
26,678,089 25,493,560
4,319,504 4,440,748
203,704 -
7,855,238 7,234,291
- 13,720,048
100 100
56,675 37,193
129,485,735 95,709,491
(81,839,591) (71,699,191)
99,755 (67,917)
47,802,674 23,979,676
36,988,422 34,025,527
84,791,096 58,005,203
$ 123,847,631 $ 108,893,850







NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)
Statement of Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009

Revenues $ 19,407,523 $ 31,600 $ 35,240,702 $ 76,738
Cost of revenues 12,911,800 15,750 23,763,418 39,300

Gross profit 6,495,723 15,850 11,477,284 37,438
Selling, general, and administrative 7,865,477 4,199,903 14,154,965 5,823,812
Research and development 2,133,172 515,264 3,433,542 769,892

Operating loss (3,502,926) (4,699,317) (6,111,223) (6,556,266)
Other income (expense):

Other income/(expense), net 149,571 12,389 (14,502) 12,694

Interest expense (6,198) (4,437) (14,717) (15,036)

143,373 7,952 (29,219) (2,342)

Loss from operations before provision for income taxes and noncontrolling
interests (3,359,553) (4,691,365) (6,140,442) (6,558,608)
Provision for income taxes 402,259 - 905,203 -
Net loss (3,761,812) (4,691,365) (7,045,645) (6,558,608)
Less - income from operations attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,611,501 - 2,940,154 -
Net loss attributable to controlling interests (5,373,313) (4,691,365) (9,985,799) (6,558,608)
Preferred dividends 53,771 251,727 153,469 251,727
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (5,427,084) $ (4,943,092) $ (10,139,268) $ (6,810,335)
Basic and diluted loss per share $ 0.11) $ 0.62) $ (0.23) $ (0.86)
Weighted average common shares outstanding 48,771,930 7,970,469 44,419,456 7,887,318

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Common stock, stock options and warrants issued
as payment for compensation and services rendered
Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets and prepaid land use rights
Loss on short term investments
Bad debt expense
Deferred tax liability
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Unearned revenues
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Restricted cash released as collateral for bank loan
Purchase of short term investments
Proceeds from the sale of short term investments
Acquisition of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from the exercise of warrants
Net proceeds from the exercise of options
Net proceeds from issuance of capital stock
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible redeemable preferred stock and warrants
Amounts due from a related party
Payment of dividends
Repayment of bank loan
Repayment of notes payable
Proceeds from notes payable
Repayment of capitalized lease obligations

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rates/changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income Taxes

Supplemental Schedule of non-cash investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
Capitalized interest

Supplemental Schedule of non-cash financing activities
Financing costs for capital stock raises
Conversion of Convertible Redeemable Series C Preferred stock

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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For the Six Months Ended

June 30,

2010 2009
$ (7,045,645) $ (6,558,608)
4,339,693 1,758,574
1,465,220 60,009
34,717 -
28,176 -
(121,244) -
(78,895) (153,794)
(286,184) (31,816)
(3,331,720) -
(647,749) 112,557
(78,900) -
2,258,073 (408,122)
(3,464,458) (5,221,200)
639,944 -
(2,430,388) -
2,390,602 -
(8,634,298) (80,947)
(8,034,140) (80,947)
2,493,750 -
140,100 -
13,565,504 -
- 15,669,220
375,135 (375,000)
(222,922) -
(2,209,500) -
(9,988,213) (1,245,955)
11,046,833 1,284,753
- (12,126)
15,200,687 15,320,892
97,318 -
3,799,407 10,018,745
7,159,369 430,786
$ 10,958,776 $ 10,449,531
$ 207,500 $ 15,036

999,800

$ 418,000
205,345

463,400
13,720,048




NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — The Company

NeoStem, Inc. (“NeoStem” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in September 1980 under the name Fidelity Medical
Services, Inc. The Company’s corporate headquarters is located at 420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 450, New York, NY 10170, its telephone number is (212)
584-4180 and its website address is www.neostem.com.

In 2009, through the Company’s expansion efforts within China and with the acquisition of a controlling interest in Suzhou Erye Pharmaceuticals Company
Ltd. (“Erye”), the Company transitioned into a multi-dimensional international biopharmaceutical company with product and service revenues, global
research and development capabilities and operations in three distinct business units: (i) U.S. adult stem cells, (ii) China adult stem cells, and (iii) China
pharmaceuticals, primarily antibiotics. These business units are expected to provide platforms for the accelerated development and commercialization of
innovative technologies and products in both the U.S. and China.

In the U.S., the Company is a leading provider of adult stem cell collection, processing and storage services enabling healthy individuals to donate and store
their stem cells for personal therapeutic use. Similar to the banking of cord blood, pre-donating cells at a younger age helps to ensure a supply of one’s own
stem cells should they be needed for future medical treatment. The Company’s current network of U.S. adult stem cell collection centers is focused primarily
on the Southern California and Northeast markets. During 2010, the Company has begun to enter into new agreements for collection centers with the goal of
expanding its coverage to ten centers by the end of 2010. Each collection center agreement is effectively a license that grants a physician practice the right to
participate in the Company’s stem cell collection network and access to its stem cell banking technology, which includes its know-how, trade secrets, copy
rights and other intellectual property rights owned by the Company and utilized in connection with the delivery of stem cell collection services. The
Company’s stem cell banking technology is proprietary and the subject of pending patent applications. The terms of NeoStem’s collection center agreements
are substantially similar. NeoStem grants to each physician practice serving as a collection center a non-exclusive license to use its trademarks and intellectual
property but otherwise retains all rights thereto, and each collection center is bound by confidentiality obligations to NeoStem and non-competition
provisions. NeoStem provides adult stem cell processing and storage services, as well as expertise and certain business, management and administrative
services of a non-clinical nature in support of each physician practice serving as a collection center. In each case, the physician practice agrees that NeoStem
will be its exclusive provider of adult stem cell processing and storage, management and other specified services. The agreements also make clear that since
NeoStem is not licensed to practice medicine, NeoStem cannot and does not participate in clinical care or clinical decision making, both of which are
exclusively the responsibility of the collection center (i.e., the responsibility of the physician or the medical practice). The agreements provide for the
payment to NeoStem by the collection center of specified fees that typically include upfront licensing fees and license maintenance fees. As part of the
licensing program, NeoStem also provides marketing and administrative support services. NeoStem does not have any equity or other ownership interest in
any of the physician medical practices that serve as collection centers. Each of the agreements is for a multi-year period, depending on the particular center,
and typically has an automatic renewal provision for consecutive one year periods at the end of the initial term that also permits either party to terminate prior
to renewal. The agreements may also relate to a territory from which patients seek collection services. The agreements contain insurance obligations and
indemnification provisions, limitations on liability, non-compete provisions and other standard provisions. Generally, the agreements may be terminated by
either party with prior written notice in the event of an uncured material breach by the other party and may be terminated by either party in the event of the
other party’s bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar circumstances, or, depending on the agreement, certain other specified occurrences.

In 2009, the Company began several China-based, adult stem cell initiatives including: (i) creating a separate China-based stem cell collection and banking
operation, (ii) constructing a stem cell research and development laboratory and processing facility in Beijing, (iii) establishing relationships with hospitals to
provide stem cell-based therapies, and (iv) obtaining product licenses covering several adult stem cell therapeutics focused on regenerative medicine. In 2010,
the Company, through an exclusive collaborator, began offering stem cell banking services and certain stem cell therapies to patients in Taiwan.

The cornerstone of the Company’s China pharmaceuticals business is the 51% ownership interest it acquired in Erye in October 2009. On October 30,
2009, China Biopharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (“CBH”) merged with and into CBH Acquisition LLC (“Merger Sub”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
NeoStem, with Merger Sub as the surviving entity (the “Merger”). As a result of the Merger, NeoStem acquired CBH’s 51% ownership interest in Erye, a
Sino-foreign joint venture with limited liability organized under the laws of the People’s Republic of China. Erye was founded more than 50 years ago and
represents an established, vertically-integrated pharmaceutical business. Historically, Erye has concentrated its efforts on the manufacturing and distribution
of generic antibiotic products and has received more than 160 production certificates from the State Food and Drug Administration of China (“SFDA”),
covering both antibiotic prescription drugs and active pharmaceutical intermediates.

The results of operations for Erye are included in our consolidated results of operations beginning on October 30, 2009. The results of operations for periods
prior to October 30, 2009 reflect NeoStem as a stand-alone entity.




Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of NeoStem, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and its wholly owned and
partially owned subsidiaries and affiliates as listed below:

Entity Percentage of Ownership Location
NeoStem, Inc. Parent Company United States of America
NeoStem Therapies, Inc. 100% United States of America
Stem Cell Technologies, Inc. 100% United States of America
NeoStem (China) Inc. 100% People’s Republic of China
Qingdao Niao Bio-Technology Ltd.* * People’s Republic of China
Beijing Ruijiao Bio-Technology Ltd.* * People’s Republic of China
China Biopharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (Merger Sub) 100% United States of America
Suzhou Erye Pharmaceuticals Company Ltd. 51% owned by Merger Sub People’s Republic of China

* Because certain regulations in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) currently restrict or prohibit foreign entities from holding certain licenses and
controlling certain businesses in China, the Company created a wholly foreign-owned entity, or WFOE, NeoStem (China), to implement its expansion
initiatives in China. To comply with China’s foreign investment regulations with respect to stem cell-related activities, these business initiatives in China are
conducted via two Chinese domestic entities, Qingdao Niao Bio-Technology Ltd., or Qingdao Niao, and Beijing Ruijieao Bio-Technology Ltd., or Beijing
Ruijieao, that are controlled by the WFOE through various contractual arrangements and under the principles of consolidation the Company consolidates
100% of their operations.

Basis of Presentation: The consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2010, the consolidated statements of operations for the three amd six months ended June
30, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 and related disclosures contained in the
accompanying notes are unaudited. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2009 is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements
included in the annual report filed on Form 10-K with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) as adjusted — see Note 4. The consolidated
financial statements are presented on the basis of accounting principles that are generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial
information and in accordance with the instructions of the SEC on Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all the
information and notes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for a complete set of financial statements. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments (which include only normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30,
2010 and the results of operations and cash flows for the periods ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 have been made. The results for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2010 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2010 or for any other period. The
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes for the year
ended December 31, 2010 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation. In particular, the Company reclassified short term
investments at December 31, 2009 of $287,333 from Prepaid and other current assets to Short term investments.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents: Short-term cash investments, which have a maturity of ninety days or less when purchased, are considered cash equivalents.

Concentration of Risks: For the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, two major suppliers provided approximately 23% of Erye’s purchases of raw
materials with each supplier individually accounting for 13% and 10%, respectively. As of June 30, 2010, the total accounts payable to the two major
suppliers was 24% of the total accounts payable.




Foreign Exchange Risk: Since 2005, the PRC government has followed a policy of establishing the value of the Renminbi on a basket of certain foreign
currencies and as a result the value of the Renminbi has fluctuated within a narrow and managed band. However, the Chinese government has come under
increasing U.S. and international pressure to revalue the Renminbi or to permit it to trade in a wider band, which many observers believe would lead to
substantial appreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other major currencies. On June 19, 2010, the central bank of China announced that it
will gradually modify its monetary policy and make the Renminbi’s exchange rate more flexible and allow the Renminbi to appreciate in value in line with its
economic strength. There can be no assurance that the Renminbi will be stable against the U.S. dollar.

Economic and Political Risks: The Company faces a number of risks and challenges since a significant amount of its assets are located in China and its
revenues are derived primarily from its operations in China. China is a developing country with a young economic market system overshadowed by the state.
Its political and economic systems are very different from the more developed countries and are still in the stage of change. China also faces many social,
economic and political challenges that may produce major shocks and instabilities and even crises, in both its domestic arena and its relationship with other
countries, including but not limited to the United States. Such shocks, instabilities and crises may in turn significantly and negatively affect the Company’s
performance.

Approximately 70% of Erye’s sales are derived from products that use penicillin or cephalosporin as the key active ingredient. These products are
manufactured on 2 of the 8 production lines in Erye’s manufacturing facility. Any issues or incidents that might disrupt the manufacturing of products
requiring penicillin or cephalosporin could have a material impact on the operating results of Erye.

Restricted Cash: ~ Restricted cash represents cash required to be deposited with banks in China as collateral for the balance of bank notes payable and are
subject to withdrawal restrictions according to the agreement with the bank. The required deposit rate is approximately 30-50% of the notes payable balance.

Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables. The Company applies
judgment in connection with establishing the allowance for doubtful accounts. Specifically, the Company analyzes the aging of accounts receivable balances,
historical bad debts, customer concentration and credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in the Company’s customer payment terms.
Significant changes in customer concentrations or payment terms, deterioration of customer credit-worthiness or weakening economic trends could have a
significant impact on the collectability of the receivables and the Company’s operating results. If the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. Management regularly reviews the aging of
receivables and changes in payment trends by its customers, and records a reserve when it believes collection of amounts due are at risk.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out basis. The Company reviews its inventory periodically and will
reduce inventory to its net realizable value depending on certain factors, such as product demand, remaining shelf life, future marketing plans, obsolescence
and slow-moving inventories.

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,
2010 2009
Raw materials $ 7,020.6 $ 6,338.8
Work in process 3,151.7 666.7
Finished goods 6,209.3 5,973.5
Total inventory $ 16,381.6 $ 12,979.0

Property and Equipment: The cost of property and equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the related assets of 3 to 30 years. The cost of
computer software programs are amortized over their estimated useful lives of five years. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method. Repairs and
maintenance expenditures that do not extend original asset lives are charged to expense as incurred.
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Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,
2010 2009

Building and Improvements $ 1,6203 $ -
Machinery and Equipment 7,964.2 3,289.3
Lab Equipment 1,049.3 704.2
Furniture and Fixtures 322.2 273.2
Vehicles 264.0 75.3
Software 92.5 81.7
Leasehold Improvements 63.4 58.4
Construction in Progress 19,583.3 17,075.1

30,959.2 21,557.2
Accumulated Depreciation (767.1) (285.8)
Total fixed assets $ 30,192.1 $ 21,271.4

The Company’s results included depreciation expense of approximately $217,500 and $21,041 for the three months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009,
respectively, and $476,900 and $41,799 for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Construction-In-Progress: ~Construction-in-progress represents the costs incurred in connection with the construction of buildings or new additions to the
Company’s plant facilities. Interest incurred during the period of construction, if material, is capitalized. Construction-in-progress is not depreciated until the
assets are completed and placed into service.

Erye is constructing a new factory and is in the process of relocating to the new facility as the project is completed. Construction in progress is related to this
production facility and is being built in accordance with the PRC’s Good Manufacturing Practices (“GMP”) Standard. The Company expects that the
construction will be completed in 2011, however, certain elements of the project have been completed and put into service in 2010. The estimated additional
cost to complete construction will be approximately $6 million. No depreciation is provided for construction-in-progress until such time the assets are
completed and placed into service.

As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the Company had construction-in-progress which amounted to $19,583,294 and $17,075,057, respectively. As
of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the Company had capitalized interest as part of construction-in-progress which amounted to $765,200 and
$526,900, respectively.

Income Taxes: The Company recognizes (a) the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and (b) deferred tax liabilities and assets for the
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in an enterprise’s financial statement or tax returns. The Company continues to evaluate the
accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. The guidance requires companies to recognize in their financial statements the impact of a tax position if the
position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit. The position ascertained inherently requires judgment and estimates by management. For
the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, management does not believe the Company has any material uncertain tax positions that
would require it to measure and reflect the potential lack of sustainability of a position on audit in its financial statements. The Company will continue to
evaluate its uncertain tax positions in future periods to determine if measurement and recognition in its financial statements is necessary. The Company does
not believe there will be any material changes in its unrecognized tax positions over the next 12 months.
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Comprehensive Income (Loss): The accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) balance at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009 in the amount of
$99,755 and $(67,917), respectively, is comprised entirely of cumulative losses resulting from foreign currency translation. Comprehensive loss for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net loss $ (3,761.8) $ (4,691.4) $ (7,045.6) $ (6,558.6)
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Foreign currency translation 154.5 - 167.7 -
Total other comprehensive income 154.5 - 167.7 -
Comprehensive loss (3,607.3) (4,691.4) (6,877.9) (6,558.6)

Comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interest 1,687.2 - 3,022.3 -
Comprehensive loss attributable to NeoStem $ (5,294.5) $ (4,691.4) $ (9,900.2) $ (6,558.6)

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in a business combination. The Company reviews
recorded goodwill for potential impairment annually or upon the occurrence of an impairment indicator. The Company performs its annual impairment test as
of December 31 each year. See Note 4.

Prepaid Land Use Rights: According to Chinese law, the government owns all the land in China. Companies or individuals are authorized to possess and use
the land only through land use rights granted by the Chinese government. Prepaid land use rights are recognized ratably over the lease term of 50 years.

Intangible Asset - patent rights: Accounting standards require purchased intangible assets other than goodwill to be amortized over their useful lives unless
those lives are determined to be indefinite. Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Definite-lived intangible assets,
which consist of patents and rights associated primarily with the VSEL™ Technology which constitutes the principal assets acquired in the acquisition of
Stem Cell Technologies, Inc., have been assigned a useful life and are amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of nineteen years.

Intangible asset — product rights - approved Drugs: The Company obtained various official registration certificates or official approvals for clinical trials
representing patented pharmaceutical formulas. No amortization is recorded when the Company intends to and has the ability to sell the patent or formulas
within two months; otherwise the patent costs will be subject to amortization over its estimated useful life which is generally fifteen years. Such costs
comprise purchase costs of patented pharmaceutical formulas and costs incurred for patent application. Product rights are accounted for on an individual
basis.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets: The Company reviews long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles to be held and used for impairment on an
annual basis and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. If other events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset that the Company expects to hold and use may not be recoverable, the Company will
estimate the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset or its eventual disposition, and recognize an impairment loss. The
impairment loss, if determined to be necessary, would be measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the
assets.

Accounting for Share-Based Payment Expense: The Company records share-based payment expense at fair value. The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes
valuation method for determination of share-based payment expense. The Company accounts for share-based payment transactions with non-employees in
which services are received in exchange for the equity instruments based upon the fair value of the equity instruments issued. Generally, the Company
recognizes the fair value of share-based payment expense in net income on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. See Note 9. For those
awards that contain performance conditions, expense is generally recognized when the performance condition is deemed probable of occurring.

Earnings Per Share : Basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the weighted effect of all common shares issued and outstanding, and is calculated by
dividing net (loss)/income available to common shareholders by the weighted average shares outstanding during the period. Diluted (loss)/earnings per share,
which is calculated by dividing net (loss)/income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares used in the basic
earnings per share calculation plus the number of common shares that would be issued assuming conversion of all potentially dilutive securities outstanding,
is not presented as such potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive in all periods presented. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009,
the Company incurred net losses and therefore no common stock equivalents were utilized in the calculation of earnings per share. At June 30, 2010 and
2009, the Company excluded the following potentially dilutive securites:

June 30, 2010 June 30, 2009

Stock Options 11,842,214 2,565,800
Warrants 18,027,028 18,262,204
Series D Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock - 12,932,510
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Revenue Recognition: The Company recognizes revenue from pharmaceutical and pharmaceutical intermediary products sales when title has passed, the risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, the fee is fixed and determinable, and the collection of the related receivable is probable
which is generally at the time of delivery. The Company initiated the collection and banking of autologous adult stem cells in the fourth quarter of 2006. The
Company recognizes revenue related to the collection and cryopreservation of autologous adult stem cells when the cryopreservation process is completed
which is generally twenty four hours after cells have been collected. Revenue related to advance payments of storage fees is recognized ratably over the
period covered by the advanced payments. The Company earns revenue, in the form of license fees, from physicians seeking to establish autologous adult
stem cell collection centers. These license fees are typically billed upon signing of the collection center agreement and qualification of the physician by the
Company’s credentialing committee and at various times during the term of license agreement based on the terms of the specific agreement. During the
quarter ended June 30, 2009, the Company modified its revenue recognition policy relative to these license fees to recognize such fees as revenues ratably
over the appropriate period of time to which the revenue element relates. Previously these license fees were recognized in full when agreements were signed
and the physician had been qualified by the Company’s credentialing committee. This modification in revenue recognition policy did not have a material
impact on the results of operations. The Company also receives licensing fees from a licensee for use of its technology and knowledge to operate an adult
stem cell banking operation in China, which licensing fees are recognized as revenues ratably over the appropriate period of time to which the revenue
element relates. In addition, the Company earns royalties for the use of its name and scientific information in connection with its License and Referral
Agreement with Promethean Corporation (see “Related Party Transactions” below), which royalties are recognized as revenue when they are received.

Revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 were comprised of the following (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Revenues
Prescription Drugs and intermediary pharmaceutical products $ 19,351.3 $ - $ 35,1225 $ -
Stem cell revenues 21.7 14.0 66.4 58.6
Other revenues 34.5 17.6 51.8 18.1
$ 19,4075 $ 316 $ 35,240.7 $ 76.7

Fair Value Measurements: Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are being measured and reported are defined as the exchange price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal market at the measurement date
(exit price). The Company is required to classify fair value measurements in one of the following categories:

Level 1 inputs which are defined as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs which are defined as inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 inputs are defined as unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities. Financial assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires

judgment, and may effect the valuation of the fair value of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.
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The Company determined the fair value of funds invested in short term investments, which are considered trading securities, to be level 1 inputs measured by
quoted prices of the securities in active markets. The Company determined the fair value of funds invested in money market funds to be level 2 inputs, which
does not entail material subjectivity because the methodology employed does not necessitate significant judgment, and the pricing inputs are observed from
actively quoted markets. The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were
accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2010, and December 31, 2009 (in thousands):

June 30, 2010
Fair Value Measurements Using Fair Value Hierarchy
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Money Market Funds - % 1.2 -

Short term investments $ 294.0 - -

December 31, 2009
Fair Value Measurements Using Fair Value Hierarchy
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Money Market Funds - % 1,031.0 -

Short term investments $ 287.3 - -

Some of the Company’s financial instruments are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis but are recorded at amounts that approximate fair value due
to their liquid or short-term nature, such as cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and notes payable.

Foreign Currency Translation: ~As the Company’s Chinese pharmaceutical business is a self-contained and integrated entity, and the Company’s Chinese
stem cell business’ future cash flow is expected to be sufficient to service its additional financing requirements, the Chinese subsidiaries’ functional currency
is the Renminbi (“RMB”), and the Company’s reporting currency is the US dollar. Results of foreign operations are translated at the average exchange rates
during the period, and assets and liabilities are translated at the unified exchange rate as quoted by the People’s Bank of China at the end of each reporting
period. Cash flows are also translated at average translation rates for the period, therefore, amounts reported on the consolidated statement of cash flows will
not necessarily agree with changes in the corresponding balances on the consolidated balance sheet.

This quotation of the exchange rates does not imply free convertibility of RMB to other foreign currencies. All foreign exchange transactions continue to take
place either through the People’s Bank of China or other banks authorized to buy and sell foreign currencies at the exchange rate quoted by the People’s Bank
of China.

Translation adjustments resulting from this process are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and amounted to $99,755 and $(67,917)
as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively. Assets and liabilities at June 30, 2010 were translated at 6.809 RMB to 1 US dollar and
at December 31, 2009 assets and liabilities were translated at 6.835 RMB to 1 US dollar. The average translation rates applied to income statement accounts
and the statement of cash flows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 were 6.833 and 6.835 RMB to 1 US dollar, respectively. Since the CBH
acquisition closed in October 2009 and significant China-based stem cell operations began after June 30, 2009, there was no translation required for the
income statement accounts and the statement of cash flows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009.

Research and Development Costs: ~ Research and development (“R&D”) expenses include salaries, benefits, and other headcount related costs, clinical trial
and related clinical manufacturing costs, contract and other outside service fees including sponsored research agreements, and facilities and overhead costs.
The Company expenses the costs associated with research and development activities when incurred.

Shipping and Handling Costs: Shipping and handling costs are included in selling, general and administrative expense and were $121,103 and $269,395 for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, and $0 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively.

Statutory Reserves: Pursuant to laws applicable to entities incorporated in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries are prohibited from distributing their statutory
capital and are required to appropriate from PRC GAAP profit after tax to other non-distributable reserve funds. These reserve funds include one or more of
the following: (i) a general reserve, (ii) an enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff bonus and welfare fund. Subject to certain cumulative limits (i.e., 50% of
the registered capital of the relevant company), the general reserve fund requires annual appropriation at 10% of after tax profit (as determined under
accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC at each year-end); the appropriation to the other funds are at the discretion of the subsidiaries.

12




The general reserve is used to offset extraordinary losses. Subject to approval by the relevant authorities, a subsidiary may, upon a resolution passed by the
shareholders, convert the general reserve into registered capital provided that the remaining general reserve after the conversion shall be at least 25% of the
registered capital of the subsidiary before the capital increase as a result of the conversion. The staff welfare and bonus reserve is used for the collective
welfare of the employees of the subsidiary. The enterprise expansion reserve is for the expansion of the subsidiary’s operations and can also be converted to
registered capital upon a resolution passed by the shareholders subject to approval by the relevant authorities. These reserves represent appropriations of the
retained earnings determined in accordance with Chinese law, and are not distributable as cash dividends to the parent company, NeoStem. Statutory reserves
are $1,180,990 and $1,126,300 as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively.

Relevant PRC statutory laws and regulations permit payment of dividends by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries only out of their accumulated earnings, if any,
as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. As a result of these PRC laws and regulations, the Company’s PRC subsidiaries
are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets either in the form of dividends, loans or advances. The restricted amount was $214,300 at
June 30, 2010.

Note 3 — Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB’) issued an amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for transfers of
financial assets, which was effective January 1, 2010. The amendment eliminates the concept of a qualifying special-purpose entity, changes the requirements
for derecognizing financial assets and requires enhanced disclosures to provide financial statement users with greater transparency about transfers of financial
assets, including securitization transactions, and an entity’s continuing involvement in and exposure to the risks related to transferred financial assets. The
adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB amended the existing accounting and disclosure guidance for the consolidation of variable interest entities, which was effective
January 1, 2010. The amended guidance requires enhanced disclosures intended to provide users of financial statements with more transparent information
about an enterprise’s involvement in a variable interest entity. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued an Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) No. 2009-13, which addresses the accounting for multiple-deliverable
arrangements to enable vendors to account for products or services separately rather than as a combined unit and modifies the manner in which the transaction
consideration is allocated across the separately identified deliverables. The ASU significantly expands the disclosure requirements for multiple-deliverable
revenue arrangements. The ASU will be effective for the first annual reporting period beginning on or after June 15, 2010, and may be applied retrospectively
for all periods presented or prospectively to arrangements entered into or materially modified after the adoption date. Early adoption is permitted, provided
that the guidance is retroactively applied to the beginning of the year of adoption. The Company will not early adopt this ASU.

In January 2010, the FASB amended the existing disclosure guidance on fair value measurements, which was effective January 1, 2010, except for disclosures
about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements, which is effective January 1, 2011.
Among other things, the updated guidance requires additional disclosure for the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2
measurements and requires certain Level 3 disclosures on a gross basis. Additionally, the updates amend existing guidance to require a greater level of
disaggregated information and more robust disclosures about valuation techniques and inputs to fair value measurements. Since the amended guidance
requires only additional disclosures, the adoption of the provisions effective January 1, 2010 did not, and for the provisions effective in 2011 will not, impact
the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In March 2010, the FASB ratified the EITF final consensus on Issue No. 08-9, “Milestone Method of Revenue Recognition.” The guidance in this consensus
allows the milestone method as an acceptable revenue recognition methodology when an arrangement includes substantive milestones. The guidance provides
a definition of substantive milestone and should be applied regardless of whether the arrangement includes single or multiple deliverables or units of
accounting. The scope of this consensus is limited to the transactions involving milestones relating to research and development deliverables. The guidance
includes enhanced disclosure requirements about each arrangement, individual milestones and related contingent consideration, information about substantive
milestones and factors considered in the determination. The consensus is effective prospectively to milestones achieved in fiscal years, and interim periods
within those years, after June 15, 2010. Early application and retrospective application are permitted. The Company will not early adopt this EITF. The
Company is evaluating the effect this standard will have upon adoption.

In April 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2010-13 “Compensation — Stock Compensation”, which addresses the accounting
for stock options when denominating the exercise price of a share-based payment award in the currency of the market in which the underlying equity security
trades. A share based payment award with an exercise price denominated in the currency of market in which a substantial portion of the entity’s equity
securities trades shall not be considered to contain a condition that is not a market, performance, or service condition. Therefore such an award shall not be
classified as a liability if it otherwise qualifies for equity classification. This standard is effective in fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2010.
The Company is evaluating the effect this standard will have upon adoption.

13




Note 4 — Acquisitions

On October 30, 2009, NeoStem consummated the Merger pursuant to which CBH was merged with and into Merger Sub, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
NeoStem, with Merger Sub as the surviving entity in accordance with the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 2, 2008, as amended
(“Merger Agreement”) by and between NeoStem, Merger Sub, CBH and China Biopharmaceuticals Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of CBH (“CBC”). As
a result of the Merger, NeoStem acquired CBH’s 51% ownership interest in Erye, a Sino-foreign joint venture with limited liability organized under the laws
of the People’s Republic of China. Erye specializes in the production and sales of pharmaceutical products, as well as chemicals used in pharmaceutical
products. Erye, which was founded more than 50 years ago, currently manufactures and has received more than 160 production certifications from the SFDA
covering both antibiotic prescription drugs and active pharmaceutical intermediaries. ~Suzhou Erye Economy and Trading Co. Ltd. (“EET”) owns the
remaining 49% ownership interest in Erye. The Company and EET have negotiated a revised joint venture agreement, which has been approved in principle
by the PRC governmental authorities.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, NeoStem issued an aggregate of 13,750,167 shares of its common stock, with a fair value of $20,762,800,
and 8,177,512 shares of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, with a fair value of $13,720,000, in exchange for outstanding CBH securities. In addition, the
Company issued Class E warrants to purchase 1,603,191 shares of NeoStem Common Stock, with a fair value of $590,800, to replace warrants issued by
CBH.

The fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired in the Merger was $34,904,200. The fair value of the equity issued as consideration by NeoStem was
$35,073,600 and the fair value of the noncontrolling interests of Erye was $33,698,200. The goodwill that has been created by this acquisition is reflective of
the values and opportunities of expanded access to healthcare in the People’s Republic of China, the designation of certain antibiotics as essential medicines
in China, and that a majority of Erye’s antibiotics are on the central or provincial governments’ drug formularies. Due to the structure of the transaction, none
of the goodwill is expected to be tax deductible.

The summary of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on October 30, 2009 is as follows (in thousands):

Cash & Restricted Cash $ 4,451.2
Accounts Receivable 6,199.5
Inventories 12,469.0
Other Current Asset 2,925.2
Property, Plant & Equipment 18,922.6
Intangibles and land use rights 20,905.9
Goodwill 33,867.6
Accounts Payable $ 6,256.8
Other Liabilities 2,895.3
Deferred Tax Liability 4,720.8
Notes Payable 9,618.1
Amounts due Related Party 7,478.1

The total cost of the acquisition has been allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair values at the date of the
acquisition. The estimated purchase price allocation is subject to revision based on additional valuation work that is being conducted. The final allocation is
pending the receipt of this valuation work and the completion of the Company’s internal review, which is expected during fiscal 2010.

A preliminary allocation of the consideration transferred to the net assets of CBH was made as of the Merger date. During the six months ended June 30,
2010, the Company continued to review its preliminary allocation of the purchase price associated with the Merger and made the following retrospective
adjustments as of the Merger date:

The Company determined that finished goods inventory acquired in connection with the merger was incorrectly valued and should have been
increased by approximately $1,917,000 to step-up such inventory to fair value at the Merger date. Such finished goods inventory has been sold
through by December 31, 2009. Therefore, at December 31, 2009, there is no effect on the reported balance of inventories in the consolidated
balance sheets.

The Company determined that the fair value of the acquired customer list intangible asset was incorrectly valued by approximately $1,700,000 due
to the inclusion of future tax benefits that will not be realized for local Chinese tax purposes in the Company’s estimates of future cash flows used to
value this intangible asset.

The Company determined that it had incorrectly accounted for the book/tax basis differences that arose in recording the fair value of the net assets
acquired in connection with the Merger. Such increases to fair value, while deductible for book purposes, are not deductible for local Chinese tax
purposes but require recognition of the impact such non-deductibility will have on future tax expense. Specifically, the Company did not establish at
the Merger date deferred tax liabilities of approximately $4,720,800 for such book/tax basis differences.
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The Company evaluated the materiality of these errors from both a qualitative and quantitative perspective and concluded that these errors were immaterial to
the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009. The effect of these immaterial errors and related
retrospective adjustments at December 31, 2009 and for the year then ended are summarized as follows (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Consolidated Balance Sheet
Assets:

Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Land use rights, net

Lease rights

Customer list, net

Other intanbilbles

Other assets

Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Amount due related party

Convertible redeemable Series C preferred stock

Preferred stock Series B convertible, redeemable

Common stock

Additional paid in capital
Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Noncontrolling interests

Total equity

As Previously

Reported Adjustment As Adjusted

$ 31,799.2  $ - 8 31,799.2
21,299.4 (28.0) 21,271.4

29,862.1 4,563.6 34,425.7

4,698.6 - 4,698.6

633.2 - 633.2

16,756.1 (1,676.5) 15,079.6

747.3 - 747.3

238.9 - 238.9

$ 106,034.8 $ 2,859.1 $ 108,893.9
$ 25,4936 $ - % 25,493.6
- 4,440.7 4,440.7

7,234.3 - 7,234.3

13,720.0 - 13,720.0

0.1 - 0.1

37.2 - 37.2

95,709.5 - 95,709.5
(70,878.8) (820.3) (71,699.1)
(67.9) - (67.9)

34,786.8 (761.3) 34,025.5

59,586.9 (1,581.6) 58,005.3

$ 106,034.8 $ 2,859.1 $ 108,893.9
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Consolidated Statement of Operations
Revenues
Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Operating loss

Other income (expense):
Other income/(expense), net
Interest expense

Loss from operations before provision for income taxes and non-controlling interests

Provision for income taxes
Net loss

Less - Income from operations attributable to non-controlling interests

Net Loss attributable to controlling Interests

Preferred dividends
Net loss attributable to common shareholders

Basic and diluted loss per share
Weighted average common shares outstanding

Consolidated Statement of Equity

Preferred stock Series B convertible, redeemable
Common stock

Additional paid in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Noncontrolling interests

Total equity
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As Previously

Reported Adjustment As Adjusted

$ 11,565.1 $ - 8 11,565.1
7,587.2 1,917.0 9,504.2

3,977.9 (1,917.0) 2,060.9

4,318.8 - 4,318.8

23,459.6 (28.4) 23,431.2
(23,800.5) (1,888.6) (25,689.1)
1.4 - 1.4
(37.8) - (37.8)
(39.2) - (39.2)
(23,839.7) (1,888.6) (25,728.3)

344.2 (280.0) 64.2
(24,183.9) (1,608.6) (25,792.5)
1,088.6 (788.2) 300.4
(25,272.5) (820.4) (26,092.9)
5,612.0 - 5,612.0
$ (30,884.5) $ (820.4) $ (31,704.9)
$ (2.37) $ (2.44)
13,019,518 13,019,518
As Previously
Reported Adjustment As Adjusted

$ 01 % - $ 0.1
37.2 - 37.2

95,709.5 - 95,709.5

(70,878.8) (820.3) (71,699.1)

(67.9) - (67.9)

34,786.8 (761.3) 34,025.5

$ 59,586.9 $ (1,581.6) $ 58,005.3




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Common Stock, stock options and warrants issued

as payment for compensation, services rendered and interest expense
Depreciation and amortization

Bad debt expense

Deferred tax liability

Realization of step-up in basis of inventory received at date of acquisition
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts receivable

Inventory

Other assets

Unearned revenues

Payments to related party

Accounts payable, accrued expenses

and other current liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash received in connection with acquisition of technology
Cash associated with Merger

Acquisition of property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Net proceeds from issuance of Series D Preferred Stock
Proceeds from bank loan

Restricted cash pledged as collateral for bank loan
Proceeds from notes payable

Payment of capitalized lease obligations

Proceeds from sale of convertible debentures

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

As Previously

Reported Adjustment As Adjusted
$ (24,183.9) $ (1,608.6) $ (25,792.5)
12,324.0 - 12,324.0
577.0 (28.4) 548.6
(90.2) - (90.2)
- (280.0) (280.0)
- 1,917.0 1,917.0
1,796.7 - 1,796.7
571.7 - 571.7
(2,427.1) - (2,427.1)
(238.9) - (238.9)
1,991.8 - 1,991.8
(243.8) - (243.8)
1,274.7 - 1,274.7
(8,648.0) - (8,648.0)
696.5 - 696.5
(2,387.6) - (2,387.6)
(1,691.1) - (1,691.1)
15,669.2 - 15,669.2
2,197.5 - 2,197.5
(959.9) - (959.9)
2,918.3 - 2,918.3
(14.7) . (14.7)
(2,742.7) - (2,742.7)
17,067.7 - 17,067.7
6,728.6 - 6,728.6
430.8 - 430.8
$ 7,159.4 $ - 8 7,159.4
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Presented below is the unaudited proforma information as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the three and six months ended June 30,
2009 along with a comparison to the reported results for the three and six ended June 30, 2010 (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
(As Reported) (Proforma) (As Reported) (Proforma)

Revenues $ 19,407.5 $ 15,4208 $ 35,240.7 $ 28,111.6
Cost of revenues 12,747.9 10,141.5 23,599.5 18,865.0
Gross profit 6,659.6 5,279.3 11,641.2 9,246.6
Research and development 2,133.2 777.5 3,433.5 1,042.6
Selling, general and administrative 8,029.4 5,703.9 14,318.9 9,050.5
Operating loss (3,503.0) (1,202.1) (6,111.2) (846.5)
Other income/(expense), net 143.4 41.2 (29.2) (14.7)
Loss from operations before provision for income taxes and noncontrolling

interests (3,359.5) (1,160.9) (6,140.4) (861.2)
Provision for income taxes 402.3 452.6 905.2 862.3
Net loss (3,761.9) (1,613.5) (7,045.6) (1,723.5)
Less - income from operations attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,611.4 1,508.1 2,940.2 2,428.6
Preferred dividends 53.8 251.7 153.5 251.7
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (5,427.1) $ (3,377.3) $ (10,139.3) $ (4,403.8)
Weighted average common shares outstanding 48,771,930 21,840,823 44,419,456 21,923,974
Net loss per share $ 0.11) $ (0.15) $ (0.23) $ (0.20)

The unaudited supplemental pro forma financial information should not be considered indicative of the results that would have occurred if the Merger had
been consummated on January 1, 2009, nor are they indicative of future results.

Note 5 — Intangible Asset

At June 30, 2010, the Company’s intangible assets consisted of patent applications and rights associated with the VSEL ™ Technology which constitutes the
principal assets acquired in the acquisition of Stem Cells Technologies, Inc., patent rights owned by Erye, a lease right between Erye and EET (the 49%
shareholder of Erye) for the use of Erye’s current manufacturing plant in Suzhou and Erye’s customer list.

As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the Company’s intangible assets and related accumulated amortization consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2010 December 31, 2009
Accumulated Accumulated
Useful Life Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net
Intangible assets obtained in the CBH acquisition
Lease rights 2 $ 6907 $ (230.2) $ 4605 $ 690.7 $ (57.6) $ 633.1
Customer list 10 15,335.1 (1,022.3) 14,312.8 15,335.1 (255.6)  15,079.5
Patents 5 150.3 (11.5) 138.8 150.3 .7) 147.6
Intangible assets obtained in the Stem Cell
Technologies, Inc. Acquisition - - - - - -
VSEL patent rights 19 669.0 (88.0) 581.0 672.8 (73.1) 599.7
Total Intangible Assets $16,845.1 $ (1,352.0) $15,493.1 $16,8489 $ (389.0) $16,459.9

Estimated amortization expense for the five years subsequent to June 30, 2010 is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,

2010 $ 966.0
2011 1,872.8
2012 1,585.1
2013 1,585.1
2014 1,585.1
Thereafter 7,899.0
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The remaining weighted-average amortization period as of December 31, 2009 is 8 years.
Note 6— Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,2010  December 31, 2009

Income taxes payable $ 1,901.3 $ 1,842.0
Patent infringement 743.6 -
VAT payable 586.5 -
Salaries and related taxes 206.3 531.6
Professional fees 242.3 116.8
Franchise taxes 18.0 139.0
Collection cost 84.9 85.2
Dividends payable - 69.4
Rent expense 73.7 69.1
Warrant liability 30.6 36.0
Benefits Payable 78.0 -
Security deposits 250.9 -
Freight insurance 76.0 =
Accrued construction costs 418.1 -
Other 282.9 76.4

$ 4,993.1 $ 2,965.5

Note 7 — Notes Payable and Bank Loan

In December 2009, in order to facilitate working capital requirements in China, NeoStem (China) issued a promissory note to the Bank of Rizhao Qingdao
Branch in the amount of 4,400,000 RMB (approximately $645,480). The note bears an interest rate of 4.05%. The note was repaid in the second quarter of
2010. The loan was collateralized by cash in a restricted bank account totaling 5,189,400 RMB (approximately $759,200) and these funds were returned when
the note was repaid. In addition, in January 2010 NeoStem (China) entered into a pledge agreement with the bank pledging all of its interest in its Variable
Interest Entities (“VIEs”) as additional collateral for the loan.

On May 25, 2010 NeoStem (China) issued a promissory note to the Bank of Rizhao Qingdao Branch in the amount of 3,600,000 RMB (approximately
$530,300) due November 25, 2010 and bearing interest at 4.86% per annum. The loan is collateralized by cash in a restricted bank account totaling 4,074,500
RMB (approximately $600,200). In addition, in May 2010 NeoStem (China) entered into a pledge agreement with the bank pledging all of its interest in its
VIEs as additional collateral for the loan.

The Company’s subsidiary Erye has 69,749,400 RMB (approximately $10,274,100) of notes payables as of June 30, 2010. Notes are payables to the banks
who issue bank notes to Erye’s creditors. Notes payable are interest free and usually mature after a three to six month period. In order to issue notes payable
on behalf of Erye, the banks required collateral, such as cash deposits which were approximately 30%-50% of notes to be issued, or properties owned by
Erye. Restricted cash put up for collateral for the balance of notes payable at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, amounted to 23,743,500
RMB (approximately $3,496,100) and 26,999,300 RMB (approximately $3,955,400), respectively. At June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009 the restricted
cash amounted to 33.1% and 40.4% of the notes payable Erye issued, and the remainder of the notes payable is collateralized by pledging the land use right
Erye owns, which amounts to approximately $1,907,200 at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively.

The Company has financed certain insurance polices and has notes payable at June 30, 2010 in the amount of $97,900 related to these policies. These notes
require monthly payments and mature in less than one year.

In December 2009, Erye obtained a loan of 15,000,000 RMB (approximately $2,209,500) from the Industrial and Commercial
Bank with an interest rate of 4.86% and was due in June 2010. In April 2010, this loan was paid in full.

Note 8 — Convertible Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock
On October 30, 2009, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company issued 8,177,512 shares of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series

C Preferred Stock”) to RimAsia Capital Partners, L.P. (“RimAsia”) in exchange for certain outstanding CBH securities.
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On May 17, 2010, RimAsia at its option, converted its 8,177,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock into 9,086,124 shares of the Company's common stock at
a conversion rate of 0.90 shares of Series C Preferred Stock for 1.0 share of the Company’s common stock. Following this conversion, there are no shares of
Series C Preferred Stock outstanding and RimAsia will not be entitled to receive any dividends on such shares, to receive notices or to vote such shares or to
exercise or to enjoy any other powers, preferences or rights in respect thereof; provided however that RimAsia was entitled to receive a cash payment of
$153,469 which is equal to the dividends accrued but unpaid through from January 1, 2010 to May 17, 2010. This payment was made on May 25, 2010.

Note 9 — Shareholders’ Equity
Common Stock:
The authorized common stock of the Company is 500 million shares, par value $0.001 per share.

On February 18, 2010, the Company completed a public offering of its common stock, selling 5,750,000 shares priced at $1.35 per share. The Company
received approximately $6,821,600 in net proceeds from the offering, after underwriting discounts, commissions and expenses, of approximately $940,000 of
which approximately $463,000 was unpaid as of June 30, 2010.

Effective March 15, 2010, RimAsia exercised a warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of restricted Common Stock. This warrant was issued to RimAsia in a
private placement completed by the Company in September 2008. The exercise price was $1.75 per share, resulting in proceeds to the Company of
$1,750,000. In connection therewith, the Company modified certain terms of RimAsia’s Series D Warrant to purchase 4,000,000 shares of Common
Stock. See Note 9 — Shareholders’ Equity - Warrants.

On May 17, 2010, RimAsia, the holder of 8,177,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock issued by the Company in connection with the Merger, at its option,
converted its 8,177,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock into 9,086,124 shares of the Company's common stock at a conversion rate of 0.90 shares of Series
C Preferred Stock for 1.0 share of the Company’s common stock.

On May 19, 2010, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement with Commerce Court Small Cap Value Fund, Ltd., which provides that,
subject to certain terms and conditions, Commerce Court is committed to purchase up to $20,000,000 worth of shares of the Company’s common stock over a
term of approximately 24 months. The Purchase Agreement provides that at the Company’s discretion, it may present Commerce Court with draw down
notices under this $20 million equity line of credit arrangement from time to time, to purchase the Company’s Common Stock, provided certain price
requirements are met and limited to 2.5% of the Company’s market capitalization at the time of such draw down, which may be waived or modified. The per
share purchase price for these shares will equal the daily volume weighted average price of the Company’s common stock on each date during the draw down
period on which shares are purchased, less a discount of 5.0%. The Purchase Agreement also provides that the Company in its sole discretion may grant
Commerce Court the right to exercise one or more options to purchase additional shares of Common Stock during each draw down period at a price which
would be based on a discount calculated in the same manner as it is calculated in the draw down notice. The issuance of shares of common stock to
Commerce Court pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and the sale of those shares from time to time by Commerce Court to the public, are covered by an
effective registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC.

On May 27, 2010, the Company presented Commerce Court with a Draw Down Notice. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the shares were offered at a
discount price to Commerce Court mutually agreed upon by the parties under the Purchase Agreement equal to 95.0% of the daily volume weighted average
price of the common stock during the Pricing Period or a 5% discount. Pursuant to the Draw Down Notice, the Company also granted Commerce Court the
right to exercise one or more options to purchase additional shares of common stock during the Pricing Period, based on the trading price of the common
stock. The Company settled with Commerce Court on the purchase of 685,226 shares of common stock under the terms of the Draw Down Notice and the
Purchase Agreement at an aggregate purchase price of $1.8 million, or approximately $2.63 per share, on June 7, 2010. The Company and Commerce Court
agreed to waive the minimum threshold price of $3.00 per share set forth in the Purchase Agreement. The Company received net proceeds from the sale of
these shares of approximately $1.7 million after deducting its offering expenses.

On June 1, 2010, Fullbright exercised a warrant to purchase 400,000 shares of restricted Common Stock. This warrant was issued to Fullbright in a private
placement of securities by the Company in November 2008. The exercise price was $1.75 per share, resulting in proceeds to the Company of $700,000.

On June 25, 2010, the Company entered into definitive securities purchase agreements with investors in a registered direct public offering offering, pursuant
to which such investors agreed to purchase, and the Company agreed to sell, an aggregate of 2,325,582 Units, consisting of an aggregate of 2,325,582 shares
of common stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 581,394 shares of common stock. The offering closed on June 30, 2010 with gross proceeds of
$5.0 million. Each Unit was priced at $2.15 and consisted of one share of common stock and a warrant which will allow the investor to purchase 0.25 shares
of common stock at a per share price of $2.75. The warrants may be called by the Company in the event that the common stock trades over $4.50 per share
for 10 consecutive trading days. Subject to certain ownership limitations, the warrants will be exercisable on the date of the closing and will expire 2 years
thereafter. The number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants and the exercise price of the warrants are adjustable in the event of
stock dividends, splits, recapitalizations, reclassifications, combinations or exchanges of shares, reorganizations, liquidations, consolidation, acquisition of the
Company (whether through merger or acquisition of substantially all the assets or stock of the Company) or similar events. The issuance of the securities in
this offering was registered on a registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC. Rodman & Renshaw LLC acted as the Company’s placement agent
in this offering and received a total payment of $340,000 in fees and expenses and Placement Agent Warrants to purchase up to 93,023 shares of our Common
Stock at an exercise price of $2.6875 per share expiring May 10, 2015. The Placement Agent Warrants are not covered by the Form S-3. The net proceeds to
the Company from such offering, after deducting the Placement Agent’s fees and expenses, the Company’s estimated offering expenses, and excluding the
proceeds, if any, from the exercise of the warrants issued in the offering were approximately $4.6 million.
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Warrants:

The Company has issued common stock purchase warrants from time to time to investors in private placements and public offerings, and to certain vendors,
underwriters, placement agents and consultants of the Company. A total of 18,027,028 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance upon exercise of
outstanding warrants as of June 30, 2010 at prices ranging from $0.50 to $6.50 and expiring through April 2017.

During the three months and six months ended June 30, 2010 the Company issued warrants for services as follows ($ in thousands):

Number of Common

Stock Purchase Value of Common Stock Common Stock Purchase
Warrants Issued Purchase Warrants Issued Warrant Expense Recognized
Three Months Six Months Three Months Six Months Three Months Six Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended
6/30/2010 6/30/2010 6/30/2010 6/30/2010 6/30/2010 6/30/2010
Warrants issued for investor relations
services = 200,000 $ - $ 2427 $ 65.7 $ 192.1
Warrants issued for consulting services 50,000 325,000 $ 3927 $ 3927 $ 3249 $ 324.9
Warrants issued for legal services 25,000 77,000 $ 464 $ 104.0 $ 66 $ 47.6

On March 15, 2010, the Company and RimAsia, an affiliate of the Company, made certain agreements with respect to outstanding warrants. RimAsia
exercised its warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, exercisable at a per share exercise price of $1.75, which was issued to
RimAsia in a private placement completed by the Company in September 2008 (the “September 2008 Warrant”). This exercise resulted in proceeds to the
Company totaling $1,750,000. The condition for such exercise was that the Company would modify certain terms of RimAsia’s warrant to purchase
4,000,000 shares of Common Stock, issued to RimAsia in a private placement completed by the Company in April 2009 (the “Series D Warrant”). The Series
D Warrant was amended to provide for (i) a three (3) year extension of the Termination Date from September 1, 2013 to September 1, 2016, and (ii) an
increase in the average closing price that triggers the Company’s redemption option under the Series D Warrant from $3.50 to $5.00. The change in terms
resulted in a charge to other expense totaling approximately $188,000.

Warrant activity is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Contractual Aggregate
Shares Exercise Price Term (years) Intrinsic Value
Balance at December 31, 2009 19,838,802 $ 3.00
Granted 1,276,417 2.25
Exercised (1,425,000) 1.72
Expired (1,663,191) 6.35
Cancelled -
Balance at June 30, 2010 18,027,028 $ 273 $ 42§ 968,247
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At June 30, 2010 the outstanding warrants by range of exercise prices are as follows:

Weighted Average
Number Outstanding Remaining Number Exercisable
Exercise Price June 30, 2010 Contractual Life (years) June 30, 2010
$0.50 to $1.01 699,000 0.8 678,841
$1.01 to $1.99 1,442,709 1.7 1,366,709
$1.99 to $2.53 13,277,512 2.5 13,152,512
$2.53 to $5.99 929,928 3.2 929,928
$5.99 to $6.50 1,677,879 6.1 1,677,879
18,027,028 2.7 17,805,869

Options:

The Company’s 2003 Equity Participation Plan (the “2003 Equity Plan”) permits the grant of share options and shares to its employees, directors, consultants
and advisors for up to 2,500,000 shares of Common Stock as stock-based compensation. The 2009 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2009 Equity Plan”)
makes up to 13,750,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company available for issuance to employees, consultants, advisors and directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries pursuant to incentive or non-statutory stock options, restricted and unrestricted stock awards and stock appreciation rights.

All stock options under the 2003 Equity Plan and the 2009 Equity Plan are generally granted at the fair market value of the Common Stock at the grant
date. Stock options vest either on the date of grant, ratably over a period determined at time of grant, or upon the accomplishment of specified business
milestones, and generally expire 10 years from the grant date.

The 2009 Equity Plan was originally adopted by the shareholders of the Company on May 8, 2009. On October 29, 2009, the shareholders of the Company
approved an amendment to the 2009 Equity Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance thereunder from 3,800,000 to
9,750,000. At the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company held on June 2, 2010, the shareholders approved an amendment to increase this
number to 13,750,000.

The 2003 Equity Plan and the 2009 Equity Plan are sometimes collectively referred to as the Company’s “U.S. Equity Plan.”

The Company’s 2009 Non-U.S. Based Equity Compensation Plan (“Non-U.S. Plan”) makes up to 8,700,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company
available for issuance. Persons eligible to receive restricted and unrestricted stock awards, warrants (option-like equity grants), stock appreciation rights or
other awards under the Non-U.S. Plan are those service providers to the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates providing services outside of the United
States, including employees and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates, who, in the opinion of the Compensation Committee, are in a
position to contribute to the Company’s success. Warrants vest either on the date of grant, ratably over a period determined at time of grant, or upon the
accomplishment of specified business milestones, and generally expire 10 years from the grant date.

The Non-U.S. Plan was originally adopted by the shareholders of the Company on October 29, 2009. At the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the
Company held on June 2, 2010, the shareholders approved an amendment to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance
thereunder from 4,700,000 to 8,700,000.

The Company’s results include share-based compensation expense of $1,843,721 and $1,338,617 for the three months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009,
respectively and $3,529,355 and $1,398,387 for the six month periods ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Options vesting on the accomplishment of
business milestones will not be recognized for compensation purposes until such milestones are deemed probable of accomplishment. At June 30, 2010 there
were options to purchase 1,706,075 shares outstanding that will vest upon the accomplishment of business milestones and will be accounted for as an
operating expense when such business milestones are deemed probable of accomplishment.

The weighted average estimated fair value of stock options granted in the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 was $1.85 and $1.83, respectively. The
fair value of options at the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected volatility is based upon historical
volatility of the Company’s stock and other contributing factors. The expected term is based upon observation of actual time elapsed between date of grant
and exercise of options for all employees.
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The range of assumptions made in calculating the fair values of options are as follows (the same assumptions were used for warrants, the term for the warrant
is based on the life of the warrant):

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2010 June 30, 2009

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2010 June 30, 2009

Expected term (in years) 5to 10 10 5to 10 10
Expected volatility 95% - 100% 195% to 217% 95% - 124% 195% to 217%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.78% - 3.58% 3.35% to 3.81% 1.78% - 3.80% 3.35% to 3.81%
Stock option activity under the U.S. Equity Plan is as follows:
Weighted Weighted Average Average
Number of Average Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price  Contractual Term Value
Balance at December 31, 2009 8,340,574 $ 1.93
Granted 790,000 $ 1.98
Exercised (90,000) $ 1.56
Expired -
Cancelled (98,360) $ 1.61
Balance at June 30, 2010 8,942,214 $ 1.89 86 $ 600,000
Vested and Exercisable at June 30, 2010 4,549,764 $ 310,345
Number Outstanding Weighted Average Number Exercisable

June 30, 2010 Remaining Contractual Term June 30, 2010

Exercise Price

300,000
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$071to$ 1.89 3,861,000 9.02 1,855,000
$ 1.89t0$ 1.96 3,123,664 7.65 2,313,880
$ 1.96t0 $ 4.96 1,906,200 9.41 329,534
$ 4.96 to $7.01 27,250 5.09 27,250
$7.01 to $15.00 24,100 4.45 24,100
8,942,214 4,549,764
Stock option activity under the Non U.S. Equity Plan is as follows:
Weighted Weighted Average Average
Number of Average Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price  Contractual Term Value
Balance at December 31, 2009 1,650,000 $ 2.04
Granted 1,250,000 $ 2.26
Exercised -
Expired -
Cancelled -
Balance at June 30, 2010 2,900,000 $ 2.13 -
Vested and Exercisable at June 30, 2010 -




Number Outstanding Weighted Average Number Exercisable

June 30, 2010 Remaining Contractual Term June 30, 2010
Exercise Price
$ 2.04t0$ 2.10 1,650,000 9.33 150,000
$ 210t0$ 2.17 650,000 9.95 150,000
$ 217t0% 2.36 600,000 9.97 -
2,900,000 300,000

The total fair value of shares vested during the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 was $1,051,225 and 1,451,840, respectively.
The number of remaining shares authorized to be issued under the various equity plans are as follows:

US Equity Plan Non US Equity Plan

Shares Authorized for Issuance under 2003 Equity Plan 2,500,000 -
Shares Authorized for Issuance under 2009 Equity Plan 13,750,000 -
Shares Authorized for Issuance under Non US Equity Plan - 8,700,000
16,250,000 8,700,000
Outstanding Options - US Equity Plan (8,942,214) -
Outstanding Options - Non US Equity Plan - (2,900,000)
Common shares issued under the option plans (2,224,737) (875,000)
Total common shares remaining to be issued under the Option Plans 5,083,049 4,925,000

Options are usually granted at an exercise price at least equal to the fair value of the Common Stock at the grant date and may be granted to employees,
directors, consultants and advisors of the Company and its subsidiaries. As of June 30, 2010, there was approximately $9,835,533 of total unrecognized
compensation costs related to unvested stock option awards of which $6,310,861 of unrecognized compensation expense is related to stock options that vest
over a weighted average life of 1.2 years. The balance of unrecognized compensation costs, $3,524,673, is related to stock options that vest based on the
accomplishment of business milestones as to which expense is generally recognized when such milestone is probable.

Note 10 — Income Taxes

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 enacted a complex set of rules limiting the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income
following a corporate ownership change. The Company’s ability to utilize its NOL carryforwards is limited following a change in ownership in excess of fifty
percentage points during any three-year period.

Since the year 2000, the Company has had several changes in ownership which has resulted in a limitation on the Company’s ability to apply net operating
losses to future taxable income. Approximately $7,000,000 of net operating losses had expired due to these limitations. At December 31, 2009, the Company
had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $26,450,000 applicable to future Federal income taxes. The tax loss carryforwards are subject to
annual limitations and expire at various dates through 2029. The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax asset because of
the uncertainty that the utilization of the net operating loss will be realized.

The Company determined that a book/tax basis difference exists in recording the fair value of the intangible assets acquired in connection with the
Merger. Increasing the value of the acquired asset to fair value, while deductible for book purposes, are not deductible for local Chinese tax purposes but
require recognition of the impact such non-deductibility will have on future tax expense. Specifically, the Company established as of the Merger date
deferred tax liabilities of approximately $4,720,800 for such book/tax basis difference. This deferred tax liability will be recognized ratably as amortization of
certain intangible assets occurs.

Note 11 — Segment Information

Historically, the Company’s operations have been conducted in only one geographical segment and since March 31, 2007 the Company had realized revenue
only from one industry segment, the banking of adult autologous stem cells. In June 2009, the Company established NeoStem (China), Inc. (“NeoStem
China” or the “WFOE”) as a wholly foreign owned subsidiary of the Company. The WFOE is domiciled in Qingdao and under its scope of business approved
by the Chinese regulatory authorities, the WFOE may engage in the research & development, transfer and technological consultation service of bio-
technology, regenerative medical technology and anti-aging technology (excluding the development or application of human stem cell, gene diagnosis and
treatment technologies); consultation of economic information; import, export and wholesaling of machinery and equipments (the import and export do not
involve the goods specifically stipulated in/by state-operated trade, import & export quota license, export quota bidding, export permit, etc.). In furtherance of
complying with PRC’s foreign investment prohibition on stem cell research and development, clinical trials and related activities, the Company conducts its
current business in the PRC via two domestic variable interest entities. On October 30, 2009, in connection with the Merger, the Company acquired CBH’s
51% ownership interest in Erye which specializes in research and development, production and sales of pharmaceutical products, as well as chemicals used in
pharmaceutical products. As a result the Company now operates in the United States and China.
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The Company’s segment data is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
United States
Stem Cell Revenues $ 21.7 % 140 $ 664 $ 58.6
Other Revenues 16.1 17.6 30.1 18.1
China
Prescription drugs and intermediary pharmaceutical products 19,351.3 - 35,122.5 -
Other Revenues 18.4 - 21.7 -
$ 19,4075 $ 316 $ 35,240.7 $ 76.7
Income/(loss) from operations:
United States $ (5,429.7) $ (3,694.1) $ (9,888.3) $ (5,417.9)
China 1,926.8 (1,005.3) 3,777.1 (1,138.4)
$ (3,502.9) $ (4,699.4) $ (6,111.2) $ (6,556.3)
Total Assets June 30, 2010 December 31, 2009
United States 10,775.9 6,930.2
China 113,071.7 101,963.7
$ 123,847.6 $ 108,893.9

Note 12 — Related Party Transactions

On April 30, 2009, the Company entered into a License and Referral Agreement with Promethean Corporation (“Promethean”) through its subsidiary Ceres
Living, Inc. (“Ceres”) to use certain Company marks and publications in connection with certain sales and marketing activities relating to its nutritional
supplement known as AIO Premium Cellular (the “Product”); and in connection with the license, Ceres will pay to the Company or the Stem for Life
Foundation specified fees for each unit of the Product sold; and Ceres shall engage in a referral service with respect to the Company’s adult stem cell
collection and storage activities. Ceres will receive a specified fee from the Company for each client referred who completes and pays for a stem cell
collection. The term of the agreement is three years with each party having the right to renew annually, thereafter. The Stem for Life Foundation is a 501(c)(3)
charitable organization of which the Company’s CEO, and Vice President and General Counsel, are directors and the President and Secretary, respectively,
and of which the Company participated in the founding. The CEO of Promethean is in an exclusive relationship with the CEO of the Company. The
Company has earned $4,865 and $8,750 in royalties in connection with this agreement during the three and six months ended June 30, 2010,
respectively. The royalty payments were not material in 2009. Additionally Promethean has been responsible for referral of certain clients for our stem cell
collection business and receives a commission of 10% for such referrals. Through June 30, 2010 these commissions were not significant.

At June 30, 2010, Erye owed EET, 49% shareholder of Erye, $7,855,200. Included in the amount owed to EET are:
- Dividends paid and loaned back to Erye amounting to $7,734,200 and accrued interest of $349,400, the interest rate on this loan is 5.31%. Erye received an
interest payment of approximately $192,700 in February 2010.

- Advances to EET of $617,600; and
- A non interest bearing loan from EET of $389,100 due 2011.

On May 11, 2010, the Company entered into a one-year consulting agreement with RimAsia whereby RimAsia will act as an advisor to the Company in
connection with the Company exploring and pursuing various pharmaceutical and biotech ventures in China. RimAsia does not receive compensation under
this agreement. In connection with the consulting agreement, RimAsia has entered into a confidentiality agreement, whereby RimAsia agrees that neither it
nor its representatives will disclose NeoStem material and shall only use such material for the purpose of providing the services under the consulting
agreement. NeoStem retains all ownership rights in such material as well as material prepared for it pursuant to the consulting agreement.
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Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies
On May 26, 2006, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Robin L. Smith, pursuant to which agreement, as amended to date, Dr. Smith
serves as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Effective as of September 27, 2009, Dr. Smith’s annual base salary is $332,750, increased by 10% annually on that date. On July 29, 2009, the Company
amended the terms of its employment agreement with Dr. Smith by means of a letter agreement to extend the term of Dr. Smith’s employment to December
31, 2011 and subject to the consummation of the Merger with CBH (which Merger was consummated on October 30, 2009), award Dr. Smith a $275,000 cash
bonus for 2009 and comparable minimum annual bonuses for 2010 and 2011. The Company maintains key-man life insurance on Dr. Smith in the amount of
$3,000,000. As of October 29, 2009, the Compensation Committee approved the reimbursement to Dr. Smith of premiums, up to $4,000 annually, for
disability insurance covering Dr. Smith. The Company has also agreed to pay membership and annual fees for a club in New York of Dr. Smith’s choice for
business entertaining and meetings, and a car allowance equal to $1,000 per month.

Per Dr. Smith’s January 26, 2007 letter agreement with the Company, upon termination of Dr. Smith’s employment by the Company without cause or by Dr.
Smith with good reason, the Company shall pay to Dr. Smith her base salary at the time of termination for the two year period following such
termination. Dr. Smith’s September 27, 2007 letter agreement provides that such payment of severance can be made instead in 12 equal monthly installments
beginning the date of termination. In addition, per Dr. Smith’s May 26, 2006 employment agreement, upon termination of Dr. Smith’s employment by the
Company without cause or by Dr. Smith for good reason, Dr. Smith is entitled to: (i) a pro-rata bonus based on the annual bonus received for the prior year;
(ii) COBRA payments for a one year period; and (iii) have all vested, options as well as all options that would have vested during the 12-month period
following the date of termination, become fully vested and remain exercisable for a maximum of 48 months (but in no event longer than the original term of
exercise.) Upon termination of Dr. Smith’s employment by the Company for cause or by Dr. Smith without good reason, Dr. Smith is entitled to: (i) the
payment of all amounts due for services rendered under the agreement up until the termination date; and (ii) have all vested options remain exercisable for a
period of ninety days (all stock options which have not vested shall be forfeited.) Upon termination for death or disability, Dr. Smith (or her estate) is entitled
to: (i) the payment of all amounts due for services rendered under the agreement until the termination date; (ii) family COBRA payments for the applicable
term; and (iii) have all vested options, remain exercisable for a maximum of 48 months (but in no event longer than the original term of exercise).

Per Dr. Smith’s May 26, 2006 employment agreement, upon a change in control of the Company, options held by Dr. Smith shall be governed by the terms of
applicable agreements and equity compensation plans, but in any event at least 75% of Dr. Smith’s then unvested options shall become immediately vested
and exercisable upon a change in control. Further, in the event Dr. Smith voluntarily terminates her employment without good reason following a change in
control, Dr. Smith shall be entitled to: (i) the payment of base salary for one year; (ii) a pro-rata bonus based on the annual bonus received for the prior year;
(iii) COBRA payments for a one year period; and (iv) have all vested options, as well as all options which would have vested during the 12-month period
following the date of termination, become fully vested and remain exercisable for a maximum of 48 months (but in no event longer than the original term of
exercise).

On January 26, 2007, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Catherine M. Vaczy pursuant to which agreement, as amended to date, Ms.
Vaczy continues to serve as the Company’s Vice President and General Counsel.

Ms. Vaczy’s January 26, 2007 employment agreement, as amended on January 9, 2008 and August 29, 2008, or the Original Agreement, expired by its terms
on December 31, 2008. However, effective July 8, 2009, the Company entered into another letter agreement, or the Extension, with Ms. Vaczy pursuant to
which the Original Agreement was extended, subject to certain different and additional terms. The Extension provides that Ms. Vaczy’s base salary during the
one-year term will be $182,500. The Extension additionally provides for (i) a 25,000 share stock award upon execution under the 2009 Plan where the
Company also pays the associated payroll taxes; and (ii) a $5,000 cash bonus upon each of two milestone objectives established by the Board of Directors
(one of which was met in the fourth quarter of 2009 and the other in the first quarter of 2010). Pursuant to the Original Agreement, as extended and otherwise
amended to date, Ms. Vaczy was also entitled to payment of certain perquisites and/or reimbursement of certain expenses incurred by her in connection with
the performance of her duties and obligations under the letter agreement (including a car allowance equal to $1,000 per month), and to participate in any
incentive and employee benefit plans or programs which may be offered by the Company and in all other plans in which the Company executives participate.

As of October 29, 2009, the Compensation Committee of the Board (i) awarded Ms. Vaczy a $50,000 cash bonus, 50% of which was payable currently and
the remaining 50% payable upon the achievement of a business milestone (which was achieved in February 2010), (ii) increased Ms. Vaczy’s salary from
$182,500 to $191,000 effective as of November 1, 2009, and (iii) approved the payment of dues to a private club of Ms. Vaczy’s choosing for business
entertaining and meetings (not to exceed $6,000 annually).
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In the event Ms. Vaczy’s employment is terminated prior to the end of the term, for any reason, earned but unpaid cash compensation and unreimbursed
expenses due as of the date of such termination would be payable in full. In addition, in the event Ms. Vaczy’s employment is terminated prior to the end of
the term for any reason other than by the Company with cause or Ms. Vaczy without good reason, Ms. Vaczy or her executor of her last will or the duly
authorized administrator of her estate, as applicable, would be entitled to receive certain specified severance payments, paid in accordance with the
Company’s standard payroll practices for executives. In no event would such payments exceed the remaining salary payments in the term. Any severance
payments set forth in the Original Agreement to which Ms. Vaczy may become entitled shall be based on Ms. Vaczy’s then salary for a three month and not an
annual period. In the event her employment is terminated prior to the end of the term by the Company without cause or by Ms. Vaczy for good reason, all
options granted by the Company will immediately vest and become exercisable in accordance with their terms. Any options provided for in the Extension, as
well as other options granted or to be granted to Ms. Vaczy, shall remain exercisable despite any termination of employment for a period of not less than two
years from the date of termination of employment.

See Note 14 — Subsequent Events, for information on an employment agreement extension entered into with Ms. Vaczy in July 2010 providing for certain
different and additional employment terms.

On October 29, 2009, the Compensation Committee adopted that certain Additional Compensation Plan providing that contingent cash bonuses, in the total
amount of $200,806, would be payable upon the occurrence of a “Cash Flow Event” which occurred in the first quarter of 2010. Of such amounts, two
members of the Company’s Board of Directors, one former member of the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company’s CEO, CFO and General Counsel
participated in a total of $134,232 of such amount.

Pursuant to the terms of the Director Compensation Plan adopted on November 4, 2009, as amended, each non-employee director of the Company, including
directors who are employees of partially owned joint ventures, are entitled to quarterly cash compensation equal to $15,000, payable in arrears. Based on the
current Board structure, this will equal approximately $360,000 annually.

As of October 2, 2009, the Company entered into indemnification agreements with its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel,
certain other employees and each of its directors pursuant to which the Company has agreed to indemnify such party to the full extent permitted by law,
subject to certain exceptions, if such party becomes subject to an action because such party is the Company’s director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary.

In November 2007, the Company entered into an acquisition agreement with UTEK Corporation ("UTEK") and Stem Cell Technologies, Inc., a wholly
owned subsidiary of UTEK ("SCTI"), pursuant to which the Company acquired all the issued and outstanding common stock of SCTI in a stock-for-stock
exchange. SCTI contains an exclusive, worldwide license to a technology developed by researchers at the University of Louisville to identify and isolate rare
stem cells from adult human bone marrow, called very small embryonic like stem cells. Concurrent with the SCTI acquisition, NeoStem entered into a
sponsored research agreement (“SRA”) with the University of Louisville under which NeoStem has been supporting further research in the laboratory of
Mariusz Ratajczak, M.D., Ph.D. a co-inventor of the VSEL™ technology and head of the Stem Cell Biology Program at the James Brown Cancer Center at
the University of Louisville. The SRA, which has been periodically amended, called for payments in 2008 of $50,000, 2009 of $65,337, and 2010 of $86,068,
of which $43,034 has been paid. An additional aggregate of $95,128 is payable in 2011 until December 31, 2011, the end of the term.

Under a License Agreement entered into with the University of Louisville Research Foundation (“ULRF”) in November 2007, SCTI agreed to engage in a
diligent program to develop the VSEL technology. Certain license fees and royalties are to be paid to ULRF from SCTI, and SCTI is responsible for all
payments for patent filings and related applications. Portions of the license may be converted to a non-exclusive license if SCTI does not diligently develop
the VSEL™ technology or terminated entirely if SCTI chooses to not pay for the filing and maintenance of any patents thereunder. Under the License
Agreement, which has an initial term of 20 years, the Company has paid to date approximately $117,000 consisting of various up-front fees, including
$22,000 in connection with its May 2010 amendment, and is required to pay under the license certain other future fees including: (i) a specified non-
refundable annual license maintenance fee upon issuance of the licensed patent in the United States; (ii) a specified royalty on net sales; (iii) specified
milestone payments; and (iv) specified payments in the event of sublicensing. The License Agreement also contains certain provisions relating to "stacking,"
permitting SCTI to pay royalties to ULRF at a reduced rate in the event it is required to also pay royalties to third parties exceeding a specified threshold for
other technology in furtherance of the exercise of its patent rights or the manufacture of products using the VSEL technology.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company, NeoStem (China) , Inc., its subsidiary and Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
("PCT”), entered into an Agreement (the “Agreement”) whereby NeoStem and NeoStem China engaged PCT to perform the services necessary to construct in
Beijing, China a facility consisting of a clean room for adult stem cell clinical trial processing and other stem cell collections which will have the processing
capacity on an annual basis sufficient for at least 10,000 samples, research and development laboratory space, collection and stem cell storage area and
offices, together with the furnishings and equipment and (2) the installation of quality control systems consisting of materials management, equipment
maintenance and calibration, environmental monitoring and compliance and adult stem cell processing and preservation which comply with cGMP standards
and regulatory standards that would be applicable in the United States under GTP standards, as well as all regulatory requirement applicable to the program
under the laws of the People's Republic of China. The aggregate cost of the program, including the phase 1 equipment purchases, is expected to be
approximately $3 million. The project is anticipated to take until the end of 2010 to complete. PCT has agreed to provide at least 90 days of support services
to NeoStem for an additional fee after completion of the project, which is renewable at NeoStem's request for an additional 90 days.
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In connection with the issuance to investors and service providers of many of the shares of the Company’s common stock and warrants to purchase common
stock previously disclosed and described herein, the Company granted the holders registration rights providing for the registration of such shares of common
stock and shares of common stock underlying warrants on a registration statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission so as to permit
the resale of those shares. Certain of the registration rights agreements provided for penalties for failure to file or failure to obtain an effective registration
statement. With respect to satisfying its obligations to the holders of these registration rights, the Company is in various positions. The Company filed a
registration statement as required for some of the holders, but to date, the Company has not had such registration statement declared effective. As to some
holders, the Company has not yet satisfied its obligation to file. Certain holders with outstanding registration rights have waived their registration rights. No
holder has yet asserted any claim against the Company with respect to a failure to satisfy any registration obligations. Were someone to assert a claim against
the Company for breach of registration obligations, the Company believes it has several defenses that would result in relieving it from some or any liability,
although no assurances can be given. The Company also notes that damage claims may be limited, as (i) all shares of Common Stock as to which registration
rights attached are currently salable under Rule 144 of the Securities Act and (ii) during much of the relevant periods the warrants with registration rights
generally have been out of the money. Accordingly, were holders to assert claims against the Company based on breach of the Company’s obligation to
register, the Company believes that the Company’s maximum exposure from non-related parties would not be material.

Xiangbei Welman Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. v Suzhou Erye Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Hunan Weichu Pharmacy Co., Ltd. involves a patent infringement
dispute with respect to a particular antibiotics complex manufactured by Erye (the “Product”). The Changsha Intermediate People’s Court in Hunan Province,
PRC in the foregoing case rendered a judgment on May 13, 2010 against Erye as follows: (i) awarding plaintiff Xiangbei Welman damages and costs of
approximately 5 million RMB (approximately $750,000) against Erye which was fully accrued for at June 30, 2010; and (ii) enjoining Erye from
manufacturing, marketing and selling the Product. The Product represented less than 2% of Erye’s sales in 2009. Erye has appealed the court judgment, and
is also engaged in settlement negotiations.

A related but separate lawsuit entitled Xiangbei Welman Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. v Suzhou Erye Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Hunan Weichu Pharmacy Co.,
Ltd., involves a copyright infringement dispute with respect to package inserts of the same Product. The Changsha Intermediate People’s Court in Hunan
Province, PRC rendered a decision on August 3, 2010 against Erye, dismissing its appeal from a lower court’s judgment made by the People’s Court of Yuelu
District, Changsha City, which (i) enjoins Erye from copying and using the package inserts for the Product and selling the drugs with the aforesaid package
inserts; and (ii) awarding Welman economic losses of approximately 50,000 RMB (approximately $7,500) against Erye. Erye has decided to appeal the court
judgment, and is also engaged in settlement negotiations.

Note 14 — Subsequent Events
The following are the subsequent events that management believes materially effect the financial position or results of operations or are otherwise informative
to the reader of these financial statements.

On July 7, 2010, the Company entered into a consulting agreement pursuant to which a consultant was retained to assist the Company in providing
sponsorship of the Company’s securities in the public markets and to perform investor relations services for a three month term. In consideration for
providing services under this agreement, the Company issued to the consultant 150,000 shares of restricted common stock with a fair value of $262,500, to
vest as to one-third on each of the first, second and third one-month anniversaries of the effective date of the agreement.

On July 7, 2010, pursuant to a letter agreement (the “Employment Agreement Extension”) entered into with Catherine M. Vaczy, Esq., the Company’s Vice
President and General Counsel, the Company extended Ms. Vaczy’s employment agreement dated January 26, 2007, as amended on January 9, 2008 and
August 29, 2008 and reinstated and extended on July 8, 2009 for a one year term (as so amended and extended, the “Original Employment Agreement”). The
Employment Agreement Extension was effective as of July 7, 2010 (the “Effective Date”) and continues through December 31, 2011 (as extended, the
“Term”). The Employment Agreement Extension provides that during the Term, Ms. Vaczy shall receive (i) a base salary of $211,000 per annum which will
be increased by ten percent (10%) on the one year anniversary of the Effective Date; (ii) a bonus of $50,000, half of which is payable upon the Effective Date
and half of which is payable upon achievement of a business milestone; (iii) a minimum bonus of $60,000 during the second year of the Term; (iv) an option
(the “Option”) on the Effective Date under the Company’s 2009 Plan to purchase 350,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, which shall vest and
become exercisable as to 100,000 shares on the one year anniversary of the Effective Date, 50,000 shares on December 31, 2011, and as to the remaining
200,000 shares upon the achievement of specified business milestones, the per share exercise price of the Option equal to the closing price of the common
stock on the Effective Date and the Option subject to all the terms and conditions of the 2009 Plan; (v) the costs of personal stem cell collection; and (vi)
business club dues not to exceed $5,000 annually. Except as set forth in the Employment Agreement Extension, the terms of the Original Employment
Agreement remain unchanged.
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On July 7, 2010, the vesting of options to purchase an aggregate of 500,000 shares of common stock at $2.04 per share, previously granted under the 2009
Plan to Robin L. Smith, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, effective October 29, 2009, which were originally scheduled to vest as to 250,000 shares on
July 8, 2011 and as to 250,000 shares upon the achievement of a business milestone, was accelerated to July 7, 2010 as authorized by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors.

On July 27, 2010, consistent with the Company’s previously disclosed intention to provide support for its charitable foundation, The Stem for Life
Foundation (the “Foundation”), which promotes public awareness, funds research and development and subsidizes stem cell collection and storage programs,
the Company issued to the Foundation of 150,000 shares of restricted common stock with a fair value of $298,500. The issuance of such securities was
subject to the approval of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the NYSE Amex. On July 2, 2010, the Company also contributed $75,000
to Stem for Life.

In July 2010, the Company was awarded a $700,000 contract from the U.S. Army Medical Research and Materiel Command, Telemedicine and Advanced
Technology Research Center. This contract is for the purpose of evaluating the use of topically applied bone marrow-derived adult mesenchymal stem cells
for rapid wound healing. The Company previously announced that this funding was included in the Department of Defense FY09 Appropriations Bill and will
begin receiving funds to initiate the program in 2010.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT"'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties. Any statements not of current or historical fact may be considered forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those discussed under the heading “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” at the end of this item and under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report. The following discussion
should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this report and in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

The Merger

As previously reported, on November 2, 2008 we entered into the Merger Agreement with CBH. On October 30, 2009, the Merger was consummated, the
effect of which was our acquisition of CBH’s 51% ownership interest in Erye. In connection with the Merger we established a wholly owned subsidiary
through which we acquired our interest in Erye. The results of operations for Erye are included in our consolidated results of operations beginning on
October 30, 2009. Accordingly the year over year comparisons reflect NeoStem as a stand-alone entity for 2009 and the combined results for Erye and
NeoStem for 2010.

Erye was founded more than 50 years ago and represents an established, vertically-integrated pharmaceutical business, focused primarily on
antibiotics. Suzhou Erye Economy and Trading Co. Ltd., or EET, owns the remaining 49% ownership interest in Erye. We and EET have negotiated a revised
joint venture agreement or the Joint Venture Agreement and will govern our ownership of Erye.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Joint Venture Agreement, dividend distributions to EET and Merger Sub will be made in proportion to their
respective ownership interests in Erye; provided, however, that for the three-year period commencing on the first day of the first fiscal quarter after the Joint
Venture Agreement becomes effective distributions will be made as follows: (i) the 49% of undistributed profits (after tax) of the joint venture due EET will
be distributed to EET and lent back to Erye to help finance costs in connection with their construction of and relocation to a new facility; and (ii) of the net
profit (after tax) of the joint venture due Merger Sub, 45% will be provided to Erye as part of the new facility construction fund and will be characterized as
paid-in capital for Merger Sub’s 51% interest in Erye, and 6% will be distributed to Merger Sub directly. As of June 30, 2010 distributions totaling
approximately $7,201,600 had been deferred and EET has received and lent back approximately $7,734,300.
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The Overview

In 2009, through our expansion efforts within China and with the acquisition of a controlling interest in Suzhou Erye Pharmaceuticals Ltd., or Erye, we
transitioned into a multi-dimensional international biopharmaceutical company with product and service revenues, global research and development
capabilities and operations in three distinct business units: (i) U.S. adult stem cells, (ii) China adult stem cells, and (iii) China pharmaceuticals. These business
units are expected to provide platforms for the accelerated development and commercialization of innovative technologies and products in both the U.S. and
China.

. U.S. adult stem cells — We will continue to focus on growing our stem cell collection, processing and storage business and expanding our
research and development activities for diagnostic and therapeutic applications.

. China adult stem cells — We are in the process of launching several stem cell-focused initiatives which include therapeutic applications, as
well as related collection, processing and storage.

. China pharmaceuticals — Our ownership interest in Erye, a leading antibiotics producer in China, positions us to take advantage of China’s
growth in healthcare spending through Erye’s existing pharmaceutical product portfolio, as well as from products we may develop or license.

Results of Operations

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 Compared to the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2009
Revenue

Three Months and Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 and June 30, 2009

For the three months ended June 30, 2010, total revenues were $19,407,500 compared to $31,600 for the three months ended June 30, 2009. Revenues for
the three months ended June 30, 2010 were comprised of $19,351,300 of pharmaceutical product sales and $56,200 related to stem cell collections, license
fees, royalties and other revenue. The pharmaceutical product sales represent sales generated by Erye. The stem cell revenues generated in the three months
ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 were derived from a combination of revenues from the collection of autologous adult stem cells and license fees collected from
collection centers in our collection center network. For the three months ended June 30, 2010, we earned $21,700 from the collection and storage of
autologous adult stem cells, and $16,100 of license fees, and $18,400 of other revenues. For the three months ended June 30, 2009, we earned $14,000 from
the collection and storage of autologous adult stem cells and $17,600 from license fees. The increase in stem cell collection and storage revenue in 2010
compared to 2009 was due primarily to our efforts on recruiting clients into our network stem cell collection centers. Cost of Sales for the three months
ended June 30, 2010 is comprised of Cost of Goods sold of $12,894,900 related to the sale of our pharmaceutical products, and $16,900 of direct costs
related to the cost of collecting autologous stem cells from clients.

For the six months ended June 30, 2010, total revenues were $35,240,702 compared to $76,700 for the six months ended June 30, 2009. Revenues for the six
months ended June 30, 2010 were comprised of $35,122,500 of pharmaceutical product sales and $118,200 related to stem cell collections, license fees,
royalties and other revenue. The pharmaceutical product sales represent sales generated by Erye. The stem cell revenues generated in the six months
ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 were derived from a combination of revenues from the collection of autologous adult stem cells and license fees collected from
collection centers in our collection center network. For the six months ended June 30, 2010, we earned $66,400 from the collection and storage of autologous
adult stem cells, $30,100 of license fees and $21,700 of other revenues. For the six months ended June 30, 2009, we earned $58,600 from the collection and
storage of autologous adult stem cells and $18,100 from license fees. The increase in stem cell collection and storage revenue in 2010 compared to 2009 was
due primarily to our efforts on recruiting clients into the existing network in the Northeast and Southern California. Cost of Sales for the six months
ended June 30, 2010 is comprised of Cost of Goods sold of $23,721,200 related to the sale of our pharmaceutical products, and $42,200 of direct costs related
to the cost of collecting autologous stem cells from clients.

30




Gross margin for the six months ended June 30, 2010 totaled $ 11,477,300 of which 99% is attributable to the sale of pharmaceutical products and the
balance is attributable to our stem cell collection operations.

Operating Expenses
Three Months Ended June 30, 2010 Compared to the Three Months Ended June 30, 2009

For the three months ended June 30, 2010 operating expenses totaled $9,989,600 compared to $4,715,200 for the three months ended June 30, 2009,
representing an increase of $5,274,000 or 112%.

For the three months ended June 30, 2010, our selling, general, and administrative expenses were $7,856,500 compared to $4,199,900 for
the three months ended June 30, 2009, representing an increase of $3,665,800, which was the result of:

Our efforts to establish a stem cell operation in China to provide advanced therapies, related processing and storage, as well as research and
development capabilities totaled $1,741,100, an increase of $ 587,900. Such expenses included expenditures for the rental of laboratory space, legal
expenses associated with establishing our subsidiary company and related operations in China, consultants retained to support our implementation
and introduction of advanced therapies in China, recruiting fees for identifying senior managers for our operation in China and travel. In addition
these operating expenses reflect charges resulting from issuing various equity instruments to incentivize staff members and consultants totaling
$746,500.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately $1,105,600. Approximately $846,700 of this increased operating expense was the result of the
Merger and the attendant operating expenses of the Erye operation. The Company’s US administrative operating expenses increased by $258,800.
The use of equity instruments to incentivize staff, compensate directors and pay for services totaled $749,100, a decrease of $582,500 over the three
months ended June 30, 2009. Salaries and wages increased by $166,800 as the result of increased staffing levels, contractual salary increases, and
bonus payments during the period. Other staff related cost including travel and entertainment and operating expenses increased $80,300 as result of
our expanded operations in China. Professional fees, including legal and accounting fees increased by $390,300 as the result of our expanded
operations in China. Rent and other facility costs increased by $24,300 as a result of an increase in the cost of leasing of office space in New York
and insurance expense increased $49,000. Compensation expenses under the Directors cash compensation plan adopted by the Board of Directors in
the first quarter of 2009 increased administrative expense by $110,200. The balance of the increase in administrative expense was the result of
offsetting changes from a variety of activities.

Included in selling, general and administrative expense is a charge for $740,700 as the result of a judgment on May 13, 2010 against Erye in
connection with a patent dispute concern an antibiotic product that has accounted for less than 2% of Erye sales in the past. (See Commitments and
Contingencies for a more detailed discussion).

As a result of completing the Merger with CBH, our activities associated with the Merger ended thus reducing the use of our attorney, accountant
and other professional services and reducing our operating costs by $550,600 over 2009.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $1,782,000 over the three months ended June 30, 2009. Approximately $575,600 of this increased
operating expense was related to the sales and marketing efforts of Erye and $383,400 related to amortization of intangible assets acquired in the
Merger. The use of equity instruments to incentivize staff and pay for services totaled $339,500, an increase of $127,600 over three months ended
June 30, 2009, and marketing and consulting fees increased approximately $583,200 in connection with developing new strategies and efforts
to increase our collection network and market penetration and our US sales and marketing costs also increased by approximately $112,200 due to
increases in staff costs and other operating expenses.
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For the three months ended June 30, 2010, our research and development expenses totaled $2,133,200 compared to $515,300 for the three months
ended June 30, 2009, representing an increase of $1,617,900, which was the result of:

The use of equity instruments to incentivize research staff totaled $597,400, an increase of $497,900 over the three months ended June 30,
2009. Research related to our VSEL™ technology increased operating expenses by $753,700. Our acquisition of Erye added $369,400 of research
and development expense to our operating expenses. The balance of the increase in research and development expense is related to costs
associated with our wound healing research.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 Compared to the Six Months Ended June 30, 2009

For the six months ended June 30, 2010 operating expenses totaled $17,588,500 compared to $6,593,700 for the six months ended June 30, 2009,
representing an increase of $10,994,800 or 167%.

For the six months ended June 30, 2010, our selling, general, and administrative expenses were $14,155,000 compared to $5,823,800 for the six
months ended June 30, 2009, representing an increase of $8,331,200, which was the result of:

Our efforts to establish a stem cell operation in China to provide advanced therapies, related processing and storage, as well as research and
development capabilities totaled $2,932,900, an increase of $1,794,500. Such expenses included expenditures for the rental of laboratory space,
legal expenses associated with establishing our subsidiary company and related operations in China, consultants retained to support our
implementation and introduction of advanced therapies in China, recruiting fees for identifying senior managers for our operation in China and
travel. In addition these operating expenses reflect charges resulting from issuing various equity instruments to incentivize staff members and
consultants totaling $1,298,000.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately $3,882,100. Approximately $1,579,000 of this increased operating expense was the result of
the Merger and the attendant operating expenses of the Erye operation. The Company’s US administrative operating expenses increased by
$2,303,100. The use of equity instruments to incentivize staff, compensate directors and pay for services totaled $1,616,300, an increase of
$333,000 over six months ended June 30, 2009. Salaries and wages increased by $707,600 as the result of increased staffing levels, contractual
salary increases, bonus payments and tax payments and tax withholdings we paid on behalf of certain executive and other staff
members. Professional fees, including legal and accounting fees increased by $528,800 as the result of our expanded operations in China. Investor
relations services increased by $150,300, including fees for preparing documents for various SEC filings and increased communications with
shareholders and investors. Other staff related cost including travel and entertainment and operating expenses increased $137,200 as result of our
expanded operations in China, rent increased by $76,900 as a result of an increase in the cost of leasing of office space in New York, and franchise
taxes increased $111,200. Compensation expense under the Directors cash compensation plan adopted by the Board of Directors in the first quarter
of 2009 increased administrative expense by $186,300, insurance increased $99,000 and the balance of the changes in administrative expense
resulted from increases and decreases in other operating activities.

Included in selling, general and administrative expense is a charge for $740,700 as the result of a judgment on May 13, 2010 against Erye in
connection with a patent dispute concern an antibiotic product that has accounted for less than 2% of Erye sales in the past. (See Commitments and

Contingencies for a more detailed discussion).

As a result of completing the Merger with CBH, our activities associated with the Merger ended thus reducing the use of our attorney, accountant
and other professional services and reducing our operating costs by $835,100 over the same period in 2009.
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Sales and marketing expenses increased by $2,748,900 over six months ended June 30, 2009. Approximately $1,099,400 of this increased operating
expense was related to the sales and marketing efforts of Erye and $766,800 related to amortization of intangible assets acquired in the Merger. The
use of equity instruments to incentivize staff and pay for services totaled $495,600, an increase of $242,000 over six months ended June 30, 2009,
and marketing and consulting fees increased approximately $524,000 in connection with developing new strategies and efforts to increase our
collection network and market penetration. Our US sales and marketing costs also increased by approximately $116,600 due to increases in staff
costs and other operating expenses.

For the six months ended June 30, 2010, our research and development expenses totaled $3,433,500 compared to $769,900 for the six months ended
June 30, 2009, representing an increase of $2,663,600, which was the result of:

The use of equity instruments to incentivize research staff totaled $741,200, an increase of $604,400 over the six months ended June 30,
2009. Research related to our VSEL™ technology increased operating expenses by $1,572,900. Our acquisition of Erye added $487,400 of
research and development expense to our operating expenses. The balance of the increase in research and development expense is related to costs
associated with our wound healing research.

Dividends on Convertible Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock.

In connection with the Merger, the Company issued 8,177,512 shares of Convertible Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock (“Series C Preferred
Stock”) which called for an annual dividend of 5% based on the stated value of the preferred stock. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 we
recorded a dividend of $53,800 and $153,500 , respectively, as the prorated dividend due. On May 17, 2010, RimAsia Capital Partners LP ("RimAsia"),
converted its 8,177,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock into 9,086,124 shares of the Company's common stock. Following this conversion, there are no
shares of Series C Preferred Stock outstanding and RimAsia will not be entitled to receive any dividends on such shares, to receive notices or to vote such
shares or to exercise or to enjoy any other powers, preferences or rights in respect thereof; provided however that RimAsia was entitled to receive a cash
payment of $153,469 which is equal to the dividends accrued but unpaid from January 1, 2010 through May 17, 2010. This payment was made on May 25,
2010.

Noncontrolling Interests

When the Company acquired China Biopharmaceutical Holdings, Inc. it acquired a 51% interest in Erye Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (“Erye”). In
preparing our financial statements the full operations of Erye are reflected in these results as of October 30, 2009. We account for the 49% minority
shareholder share of Erye’s net income with a charge to Noncontrolling Interests. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 Erye’s minority
shareholders’ share of net income totaled $1,611,500 and $2,940,200, respectively.

Other Income and Expense

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 the Company incurred interest expense of approximately $139,700 and $252,900 respectively
primarily related to a loan to Erye from its minority shareholder, of which $133,500 and $238,200 was capitalized for the three and six months ended June 30,
2010, respectively as part of the cost of construction of Erye’s new manufacturing plant. In accordance with the Joint Venture Agreement that governs the
operation of Erye the minority shareholder has agreed to loan back to Erye dividends it is entitled to for three years starting in 2008, to help fund the
construction of the new manufacturing facility. At June 30, 2010 these loans totaled $7,855,200. The loan calls for interest to accrue at a rate of 5% annually.

For the three months ended June 30, 2010 the Company recognized other income of $149,600 in connection with the extinguishment of certain
liabilities that Erye determined were no longer payable, and for the six months ended June 30, 2010 the Company recognized $14,500 of other expenses that
were the result of interest income and other income credits offset by expenses related to the restructuring of the term of certain warrants issued to RimAsia of
approximately $188,000.
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Provision for taxes

The provision for taxes of $402,300 and $905,200 represents income taxes due on income of Erye for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010,
respectively and is net of utilization of the deferred tax liability associated with amortization of intangible assets acquired in the merger of $60,600 and
$121,200 for the respective periods.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At June 30, 2010 we had a cash balance of $10,958,800, working capital of $12,082,000 and stockholders’ equity of $47,802,700. During the six months
ended June 30, 2010 we invested approximately $8.6 million into the business, specifically in property and equipment related to our expansion into China,
while reducing cash used in operating activities by $2.6 million compared to the first six months of 2009.

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, we met our immediate cash requirements through existing cash balances, public offerings of our common
stock which raised approximately $13.6 million, the exercise of warrants and options which raised approximately $2.6 million, the issuance of notes payable
for our operations in China and the use of equity and equity-linked instruments to pay for services and compensation.

We incurred a net loss attributable to common shareholders of $5,427,100 and $10,139,300 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010,
respectively. The following chart represents the net funds provided by or used in operating, financing and investment activities for each period indicated (in

thousands):

The Six Months Ended

(in $000) June 30, 2010 June 30, 2009
Cash (used) in operating activities $ (3,464.4) $ (5,221.2)
Cash (used) in investing activities (8,034.1) (80.9)
Cash provided by financing activities 15,200.7 15,320.9

Operating Activities

Our cash used for operating activities in the six months ended June 30, 2010 totaled $3,464,500, which is the sum of (i) our net loss, adjusted for non-
cash expenses totaling $5,804,900 which includes, principally, common stock, common stock options and common stock purchase warrants issued for
services rendered in the amount of $4,339,700 and depreciation and amortization of $1,465,200; (ii) cash retained in the operation as the result of increases in
accounts payable and accrued expenses of $2,258,100; and (iii) a decrease in cash resulting from a reduction in advance payments and unearned revenue from
customers and licensees of $647,700, an increase in accounts receivable of $286,200, cash used for prepaids and payments of other assets of $157,800 and
increases in inventory of $3,331,700.

Under a License Agreement entered into with the University of Louisville Research Foundation (“ULRF”) in November 2007, SCTI agreed to engage
in a diligent program to develop the VSEL™ technology. Certain license fees and royalties are to be paid to ULRF from SCTI, and SCTI is responsible for all
payments for patent filings and related applications. Portions of the license may be converted to a non-exclusive license if SCTI does not diligently develop
the VSEL™ technology or terminated entirely if SCTI chooses to not pay for the filing and maintenance of any patents thereunder. Under the License
Agreement, which has an initial term of 20 years, the Company has paid to date approximately $117,000 consisting of various up-front fees, including
$22,000 in connection with its May 2010 amendment, and is required to pay under the license certain other future fees including: (i) a specified non-
refundable annual license maintenance fee upon issuance of the licensed patent in the United States; (ii) a specified royalty on net sales; (iii) specified
milestone payments; and (iv) specified payments in the event of sublicensing. The License Agreement also contains certain provisions relating to "stacking,"
permitting SCTI to pay royalties to ULRF at a reduced rate in the event it is required to also pay royalties to third parties exceeding a specified threshold for
other technology in furtherance of the exercise of its patent rights or the manufacture of products using the VSEL™ technology.

Investing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2010 we spent approximately $8.6 million for property and equipment. Erye is building a new production
facility and during the six months ended June 30, 2010 $8.2 million was spent on construction. This plant is expected to be fully operational in 2011. In
March 2010 we initiated construction of our stem cell laboratory in Beijing and to date we have invested $770,000. The balance of our capital expenditures
was spent on equipping our laboratory in Boston and other Company stem cell operations in China. The new production facility will increase Erye’s
production capacity and should enable Erye to respond to expected increases in demand for pharmaceutical products in China.

Idle cash in our Erye subsidiary of approximately $2.4 million was invested on short term investments and proceeds from these investments of
approximately $2.4 million was used for various operating and financing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2010.
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Financing Activities

In December 2009, in order to facilitate working capital requirements, in local currency, in China, NeoStem (China) issued a promissory note to the
Bank of Rizhao Qingdao Branch in the amount of 4,400,000 RMB (approximately $645,500). The note, bearing an interest rate of 4.05%, was due on June
21, 2010 and paid in full in April 2010. On May 25, 2010 NeoStem (China) issued a promissory note to the Bank of Rizhao Qingdao Branch in the amount of
3,600,000 RMB (approximately $527,400) due November 25, 2010 and bearing interest at 4.86% per annum. The loan is collateralized by cash in a restricted
bank account totaling 4,074,500 RMB (approximately $600,200). In addition, in May 2010 NeoStem (China) entered into a pledge agreement with the bank
pledging all of its interest in its VIEs as additional collateral for the loan.

The Company’s subsidiary Erye has 69,749,400 RMB (approximately $10,274,000) of notes payables as of June 30, 2010 and 62,457,000 RMB
(approximately $9,150,000) of notes payable as of December 31, 2009. Notes are payable to the banks who issue bank notes to Erye’s creditors. Notes
payable are interest free and usually mature after a three to six months period. In order to issue notes payable on behalf of Erye, the banks required collateral,
such as cash deposits which were approximately 30%-50% of the value of notes to be issued, or properties owned by Erye. At June 30, 2010, 23,734,500
RMB (approximately $3,496,100) of restricted cash was put up for collateral for the balance of notes payable which was approximately 34% of the notes
payable the Company issued, and the remaining of the notes payable is collateralized by pledging the land use right the Company owns. The use of notes
payable to pay creditors is a feature of the money and banking system of China and we expect these types of notes to be a continuing feature of Erye’s capital
structure.

On February 18, 2010 the Company completed a public offering of its common stock, selling 5,750,000 shares priced at $1.35 per share. The Company
received approximately $6,822,000 in net proceeds from the offering, after underwriting discounts, commissions and other expenses, of approximately
$940,000 of which 463,000 was unpaid.

On March 15, 2010, the Company and RimAsia made certain agreements with respect to outstanding warrants. RimAsia exercised its warrant to
purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (“ Common Stock ”), exercisable at a per share exercise price of
$1.75, which was issued to RimAsia in a private placement completed by the Company in September 2008. This exercise resulted in proceeds to the
Company totaling $1,750,000. The condition for such exercise was that the Company would modify certain terms of RimAsia’s warrant to purchase
4,000,000 shares of Common Stock, issued to RimAsia in a private placement completed by the Company in April 2009 (the “Series D Warrant”). The Series
D Warrant was amended to provide for (i) a three (3) year extension of the Termination Date (as defined in the Series D Warrant) from September 1, 2013 to
September 1, 2016 and (ii) an increase in the average closing price that triggers the Company’s redemption option under the Series D Warrant from $3.50 to
$5.00.

On May 19, 2010, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement with Commerce Court Small Cap Value Fund, Ltd., which
provides that, subject to certain terms and conditions, Commerce Court is committed to purchase up to $20,000,000 worth of shares of the Company’s
common stock over a term of approximately 24 months. The Purchase Agreement provides that at the Company’s discretion, it may present Commerce Court
with draw down notices under this $20 million equity line of credit arrangement from time to time, to purchase the Company’s Common Stock, provided
certain price requirements are met and limited to 2.5% of the Company’s market capitalization at the time of such draw down. The per share purchase price
for these shares will equal the daily volume weighted average price of the Company’s common stock on each date during the draw down period on which
shares are purchased, less a discount of 5.0%. The Purchase Agreement also provides that the Company in its sole discretion may grant Commerce Court the
right to exercise one or more options to purchase additional shares of Common Stock during each draw down period at a price which would be based on a
discount calculated in the same manner as it is calculated in the draw down notice. The issuance of shares of common stock to Commerce Court pursuant to
the Purchase Agreement, and the sale of those shares from time to time by Commerce Court to the public, are covered by an effective registration statement
on Form S-3 filed with the SEC.

On May 27, 2010, the Company presented Commerce Court with a Draw Down Notice. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the shares were offered
at a discount price to Commerce Court mutually agreed upon by the parties under the Purchase Agreement equal to 95.0% of the daily volume weighted
average price of the common stock during the Pricing Period or a 5% discount. Pursuant to the Draw Down Notice, the Company also granted Commerce
Court the right to exercise one or more options to purchase additional shares of common stock during the Pricing Period, based on the trading price of the
common stock. The Company settled with Commerce Court on the purchase of 685,226 shares of common stock under the terms of the Draw Down Notice
and the Purchase Agreement at an aggregate purchase price of $1.8 million, or approximately $2.63 per share, on June 7, 2010. The Company and Commerce
Court agreed to waive the minimum threshold price of $3.00 per share set forth in the Purchase Agreement. The Company received net proceeds from the
sale of these shares of approximately $1.7 million after deducting its offering expenses.

Effective June 1, 2010, Fullbright exercised a warrant to purchase 400,000 shares of restricted Common Stock. This warrant was issued to Fullbright
in a private placement of securities by the Company in November 2008. The exercise price was $1.75 per share, resulting in proceeds to the Company of
$700,000.

On June 25, 2010, the Company entered into definitive securities purchase agreements with investors in a public offering, pursuant to which such
investors agreed to purchase, and the Company agreed to sell, an aggregate of 2,325,582 Units, consisting of an aggregate of 2,325,582 shares of Common
Stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 581,394 shares of Common Stock. The offering closed on June 30, 2010 with gross proceeds of $5.0
million. Each Unit was priced at $2.15 and consisted of one share of common stock and a warrant which will allow the investor to purchase 0.25 shares of
common stock at a per share price of $2.75. The warrants may be called by the Company in the event that the common stock trades over $4.50 per share for
10 consecutive trading days. Subject to certain ownership limitations, the warrants were exercisable on the date of the closing and will expire 2 years
thereafter. The number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants and the exercise price of the warrants are adjustable in the event of
stock dividends, splits, recapitalizations, reclassifications, combinations or exchanges of shares, reorganizations, liquidations, consolidation, acquisition of the
Company (whether through merger or acquisition of substantially all the assets or stock of the Company) or similar events. The net proceeds to the Company
from such offering, after deducting the Placement Agent’s fees and expenses, the Company’s estimated offering expenses, and excluding the proceeds, if any,
from the exercise of the warrants issued in the offering were approximately $4.55 million.
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Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Joint Venture Agreement, dividend distributions to EET and Merger Sub will be made in proportion to their
respective ownership interests in Erye; provided, however, that for the three-year period commencing on the first day of the first fiscal quarter after the Joint
Venture Agreement becomes effective distributions will be made as follows: (i) the 49% of undistributed profits (after tax) of the joint venture due EET will
be distributed to EET and lent back to Erye to help finance costs in connection with their construction of and relocation to a new facility; and (ii) of the net
profit (after tax) of the joint venture due Merger Sub, 45% will be provided to Erye as part of the new facility construction fund and will be characterized as
paid-in capital for Merger Sub’s 51% interest in Erye, and 6% will be distributed to Merger Sub directly. At June 30, 2010 these loans totaled $7,702,800 plus
accrued interest of $227,500. The loan calls for interest to accrue at rate of 5% annually. In addition, during the second quarter EET received an interest
payment of approximately $192,000.

Liquidity and Capital Requirements Outlook

With our acquisition of a controlling interest in Erye and expansion into China, we have transitioned from being a one-dimensional U.S. service
provider with nominal revenues to being a multi-dimensional international biopharmaceutical company with current revenues and operations in three distinct
business units — U.S. adult stem cells, China adult stem cells and China pharmaceuticals. The following is an overview of our collective liquidity and capital
requirements.

Erye is constructing a new pharmaceutical manufacturing facility and began transferring its operations in January 2010. The relocation will continue
as the new production lines are completed and receive cGMP certification through 2011. The new facility is estimated to cost approximately $30 million, of
which approximately $24 million has been incurred through June 30, 2010. Construction has been and will continue to be self-funded by Erye and EET, the
holder of the minority joint venture interest in Erye. We have agreed for a period of three years to reinvest in Erye approximately 90% of the net earnings we
would be entitled to receive under the Joint Venture Agreement by reason of our 51% interest in Erye.

We are also engaged in other initiatives to expand our operations into China including with respect to technology licensing, establishment of stem cell
processing and storage capabilities and research and clinical development. In June 2009 we established NeoStem (China) as our wholly foreign-owned
subsidiary. To comply with PRC’s foreign investment regulations regarding stem cell research and development, clinical trials and related activities, we
conduct our current stem cell business in the PRC through two domestic variable interest entities. We have incurred and expect to continue to incur substantial
expenses in connection with our China activities. In order to implement the establishment of the Beijing Facility, as of December 31, 2009, our Company, our
WFOE subsidiary NeoStem (China), and PCT entered into the PCT Agreement, whereby NeoStem and NeoStem (China) engaged PCT to perform the
services necessary (1) to construct the Beijing Facility, consisting of a clean room for adult stem cell clinical trial processing and other stem cell collections
which will have the processing capacity on an annual basis sufficient for at least 10,000 samples, research and development laboratory space, collection and
stem cell storage area and offices, together with the furnishings and equipment, and (2) to effect the installation of quality control systems consisting of
materials management, equipment maintenance and calibration, environmental monitoring and compliance and adult stem cell processing and preservation
which comply with cGMP standards and regulatory standards that would be applicable in the United States under GTP standards, as well as all regulatory
requirements applicable to the program under the laws of the PRC. The aggregate cost of the program, including the Phase 1 equipment purchases, is
expected to be approximately $3,000,000. The project commenced on April 1, 2010, and is anticipated to take approximately seven months to complete. We
have the option to terminate the PCT Agreement without cause upon providing no less than 60 days written notice to PCT, subject to our obligation to pay for
any services performed up to the date of termination and certain costs and expenses incurred by PCT.

We expect to rely partly on dividends paid to us by the WFOE under the contracts with the VIEs, and under the Joint Venture Agreement, attributable
to our 51% ownership interest in Erye, to meet our future cash needs. However, there can be no assurance that the WFOE in China will receive payments
uninterrupted or at all as arranged under the contracts with the VIEs. In addition, pursuant to the Joint Venture Agreement that governs the ownership and
management of Erye, for the next three years: (i) 49% of undistributed profits (after tax) will be distributed to EET and loaned back to Erye for use in
connection with its construction of the new Erye facility; (ii) 45% of the net profit after tax will be provided to Erye as part of the new facility construction
fund, which will be characterized as paid-in capital for our 51% interest in Erye; and (iii) only 6% of the net profit will be distributed to us directly for our
operating expenses.
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The payment of dividends by entities organized under PRC law to non-PRC entities is subject to limitations. Regulations in the PRC currently permit
payment of dividends by our WFOE and Erye only out of accumulated distributable earnings, if any, as determined in accordance with accounting standards
and regulations in China. Moreover, our WFOE and Erye are required to appropriate from PRC GAAP profit after tax to other non-distributable reserve
funds. These reserve funds include one or more of the following: (i) a general reserve, (ii) an enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff bonus and welfare
fund. Subject to certain cumulative limits (i.e., 50% of the registered capital of the relevant company), the general reserve fund requires annual appropriation
at 10% of after tax profit (as determined under accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC at each year-end); the appropriation to the other funds are
at the discretion of WFOE and Erye. In addition, if Erye incurs debt on its own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict Erye’s or
the joint venture’s ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to us. This may diminish the cash flow we receive from Erye’s operations, which would
have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our interests in China will be subject to China’s rules and regulations on currency conversion. In particular, the initial capitalization and operating
expenses of the two VIEs are funded by our WFOE. In China, the State Administration for Foreign Exchange, or the SAFE, regulates the conversion of the
Chinese Renminbi into foreign currencies. Currently, foreign investment enterprises are required to apply to the SAFE for Foreign Exchange Registration
Certificates, or IC Cards of Enterprises with Foreign Investment. Foreign investment enterprises holding such registration certificates, which must be renewed
annually, are allowed to open foreign currency accounts including a “basic account” and “capital account.” Currency translation within the scope of the “basic
account,” such as remittance of foreign currencies for payment of dividends, can be effected without requiring the approval of the SAFE. However,
conversion of currency in the “capital account,” including capital items such as direct investments, loans, and securities, require approval of the SAFE.
According to the Notice of the General Affairs Department of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on the Relevant Operating Issues Concerning
the Improvement of the Administration of Payment and Settlement of Foreign Currency Capital of Foreign-invested Enterprises  promulgated on August 29,
2008, or the SAFE Notice 142, to apply to a bank for settlement of foreign currency capital, a foreign invested enterprise shall submit the documents
certifying the uses of the RMB funds from the settlement of foreign currency capital and a detailed checklist on use of the RMB funds from the last settlement
of foreign currency capital. It is stipulated that only if the funds for the settlement of foreign currency capital are of an amount not more than US$50,000 and
are to be used for enterprise reserve, the above documents may be exempted by the bank. This SAFE Notice 142, along with the recent practice of Chinese
banks of restricting foreign currency conversion for fear of “hot money” going into China, have limited and may continue to limit our ability to channel funds
to the two VIE entities for their operation. We are exploring options with our PRC counsels and banking institutions in China as to acceptable methods of
funding the operation of the two VIEs, including advances from Erye, but there can be no assurance that acceptable funding alternatives will be identified.

Neither Erye nor our other expansion activities into China are expected to generate sufficient excess cash flow to support our platform business or our
initiatives in China in the near term.

Although the Company does not have immediate plans to raise capital, we believe that we will need to raise additional capital to fund the development
of advanced stem cell technologies and therapies in the U.S. and China, including the VSEL™ technology licensed from the University of Louisville and
other regenerative technologies. We currently expect to fund our operating activities in the near term through the use of existing cash balances and moving
forward through the use of a current equity line or other capital raising transaction, potential additional warrant and option exercises, the 6% of net profits to
which we are entitled from Erye, and, ultimately, the growth of our revenue generating activities in China. In addition, we will continue to seek grants for
scientific and clinical studies from the National Institutes of Health and other governmental agencies and foundations, but there can be no assurance that we
will be successful in obtaining such grants. We also review acquisition opportunities for revenue generating businesses around which we could consider
raising capital. At June 30, 2010, we had a cash balance of approximately $10.9 million. The trading volume of our common stock, coupled with our history
of operating losses and liquidity problems, may make it difficult for us to raise capital on acceptable terms or at all. The demand for the equity and debt of
small cap biopharmaceutical companies like ours is dependent upon many factors, including the general state of the financial markets. During times of
extreme market volatility, capital may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. Our inability to obtain such additional capital on acceptable terms could
materially and adversely affect our business operations and ability to continue as a going concern.
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The following table reflects a summary of NeoStem’s contractual cash obligations as of June 30, 2010 (in thousands):

Total Less than 1 Year 1- 3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years
Employment Agreements $ 4,231.7 $ 2,252.0 $ 1,979.7 $ - 3 -
Facility Leases 2,170.2 958.5 1,211.7 - -
License Fees 180.1 30.1 90.0 60.0 -
Sponsored Research Agreement with the University of
Louisville 138.2 86.1 52.1 - -
Consulting Agreements 1,339.4 1,017.4 322.0 - -
Design & Construction of Laboratory 1,828.6 1,828.6 - - -
Director Fees 180.0 180.0 - - -
$ 10,068.2 $ 6,352.7 $ 3,655.5 $ 60.0 $ -
SEASONALITY

NeoStem does not believe that its operations are seasonal in nature.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

NeoStem does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes “forward-looking” statements as well as historical information. Such forward-looking statements involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results, to be
materially different from anticipated results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. When used in this
report, statements that are not statements of current or historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. Without limiting the foregoing, the
words “plan,” “intend,” “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “could,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” or “continue” or similar expressions or other variations or
comparable terminology are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Additionally, statements concerning our ability to successfully develop the
adult stem cell business at home and abroad, the future of regenerative medicine and the role of adult stem cells in that future, the future use of adult stem
cells as a treatment option and the role of VSEL™ technology in that future, and the potential revenue growth of such business are forward-looking
statements. Our future operating results are dependent upon many factors, and our further development is highly dependent on future medical and research
developments and market acceptance, which is outside its control. Forward-looking statements may not be realized due to a variety of factors, including,
without limitation, (i) our ability to manage the business despite continuing operating losses and cash outflows; (ii) our ability to obtain sufficient capital or a
strategic business arrangement to fund our operations and expansion plans, including meeting our financial obligations under various licensing and other
strategic arrangements and the successful commercialization of the relevant technology; (iii) our ability to build the management and human resources and
infrastructure necessary to support the growth of the business; (iv) competitive factors and developments beyond our control; (v) scientific and medical
developments beyond our control; (vi) our inability to obtain appropriate governmental licenses or any other adverse effect or limitations caused by
government regulation of the business; (vii) whether any of our current or future patent applications result in issued patents and our ability to obtain and
maintain other rights to technology required or desirable for the conduct of our business; (viii) whether any potential strategic benefits of various licensing
transactions will be realized and whether any potential benefits from the acquisition of these new licensed technologies will be realized; (ix) whether we can
obtain the consents we may require to sublicensing arrangements from technology licensors in connection with technology development; (x) our ability to
maintain our NYSE Amex listing; (xi) factors regarding our business in China and, generally, regarding doing business in China, including through our
variable interest entity structure; and (xii) the other factors discussed in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 under the heading “Part I — Item 1A. Risk Factors” and in other periodic Company filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission are available for review at
www.sec.gov under “Search for Company Filings.”

All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by these and other factors. Readers are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. With respect to these forward-looking statements, we claim the
protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements and from historical results, due to the uncertainties and factors described above, as well as
others that we do not anticipate at this time. Except as required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Not applicable to smaller reporting companies.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are the Company’s controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company
files under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Due to the inherent limitations of control systems, not all misstatements may be
detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and the breakdowns can occur because of a simple
error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management
override of the control. Controls and procedures can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the above objectives have been met.

As of the end of the Company's quarter ended June 30, 2010 covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, with the participation of
the Company's management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that due to the material weaknesses discussed below the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were not effective, at the reasonable
assurance level, in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

CBH, which was acquired by the Company on October 30, 2009, previously identified the material weaknesses identified below. Because the
acquisition was completed in the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company has not had sufficient time to remediate the material weaknesses previously identified
by CBH. However, since the filing date of the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010 the Company has made
additional progress in remediating the material weaknesses previously identified by CBH.

Prior to the Merger, in its assessment of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, CBH identified in substance the material
weaknesses set forth below. As of September 30, 2009, CBH reported that such material weaknesses had not been remediated and continued to exist.

1. Insufficient U.S. GAAP qualified accounting and finance personnel.

As the U.S. GAAP closing process related to non-routine transactions and estimates, CBH did not have sufficient US GAAP qualified accounting and finance
personnel necessary to close its books at its subsidiaries in China. CBH's subsidiaries in China did not maintain books and records in accordance with US
GAAP and had to make adjusting entries to prepare and report financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. Because the accounting personnel were
not familiar with US GAAP non-routine transactions and estimates were not properly accounted for under US GAAP. This material weakness resulted in
adjustments to several significant accounts and disclosures and contributed to other material weaknesses described below.

2. Lack of Internal Audit System.

CBH did not have an internal audit department and therefore was unable to effectively prevent and detect control lapses and errors in the accounting of
certain key areas like revenue recognition, purchase approvals, inter-company transactions, cash receipt and cash disbursement authorizations, inventory
safeguard and proper accumulation for cost of products, in accordance with the appropriate costing method used by CBH.

3. Financial Statement Closing Process.

CBH's controls over the financial statement close process related to account reconciliation and analyses, including bank accounts, certain long-lived assets
and accrued liabilities, were not effective. As a result, a large volume of adjustments were necessary to completely and accurately present the financial
statements in accordance with US GAAP.
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As of June 30, 2010, the Company was unable to conclude that the above material weaknesses previously reported by CBH had been fully
remediated.

Since the acquisition of CBH in the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company has been in the process of implementing the following remediation plans.

While the Company has sufficient US GAAP qualified accounting and financial personnel at the parent level, the accounting and financial
accounting personnel at Company’s subsidiary, Erye, continue to need additional training on US GAAP. The Company is seeking to remediate this by
deploying its finance and accounting personnel to Erye to account for non-routine, complex transactions at the Erye level and to assist with Erye’s closing
processes from time to time and use the services of another accounting firm for this role as well as to provide additional training on US GAAP to Erye’s
personnel so they can do the accounting for Erye without significant participation from the Company’s finance and accounting personnel.

The Company does not believe its size warrants an internal audit staff. The Company engaged a public accounting firm to provide internal audit
services in 2010, including to review and assess key risk areas such as revenue recognition, purchase approvals, inter-company transactions, cash receipt and
cash disbursement authorizations, inventory safeguard and proper accumulation for cost of products as well as complex, non-routine transactions and will
participate in the closing processes.

The parent Company’s Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance, each of whom is US GAAP qualified, are participating in the
quarterly financial statement closing process at the Erye subsidiary. The Company has established a process whereby the accounting reconciliation and
analyses prepared by Erye as part of the financial statement closing process are reviewed by the parent Company’s Chief Financial Officer and its Vice
President of Finance.

In addition, the Company believes that the oversight provided by its audit committee, which, unlike CBH's audit committee, is comprised of three
independent and financially sophisticated members, at least one of whom qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in applicable SEC
rules, will support and further the remediation steps set forth above.

(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company's internal controls over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15, that
occurred during the Company's last fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company's internal control over financial reporting, except that during the last fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2010 we extended the parent company internal

controls to our new operations in China and these changes continued in the three months ended June 30, 2010.
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NEOSTEM, INC.
PART II

OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
There are no material changes to the disclosures provided in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We are a company with a limited operating history and have incurred substantial losses and negative cash flow from operations in the past, and we expect
to continue to incur losses and negative cash flow for the near term.

We are a company with a limited operating history, limited capital, and limited sources of revenue. Since our inception in 1980, we have incurred
net losses of approximately $81.8 million through June 30, 2010. We incurred net losses attributable to common shareholders of approximately $10.1 million
for the six month period ended June 30, 2010, approximately $25.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 and approximately $9.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2008, and we expect to incur additional operating losses and negative cash flow in the future. The revenues from our adult stem cell
collection, processing and storage business are not sufficient to cover costs attributable to that business. We expect to incur losses and negative cash flow for
the foreseeable future as a result of our activities under license and sponsored research agreements relating to our VSEL TM technology and other research
and development efforts to advance stem cell and other therapeutics, both in the U.S. and China. We also expect to continue to incur significant expenses
related to sales, marketing, general and administrative and product research and development in connection with the development of our business.

Although Erye, a Chinese pharmaceutical company in which we recently acquired a 51% interest, had revenue of $35.2 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2010 and $11.6 million in revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 (this reflects Erye’s operations for the two months ended December
31, 2009 since the merger was effective October 30, 2009), it has only a limited history of earnings. Moreover, Erye is expected to incur significant expenses
in the near term due to: (1) costs related to stabilizing and streamlining its operations; (2) costs related to the relocation of its production operations to a new
facility currently under construction; (3) research and development costs related to new drug projects; and (4) costs related to expanding its existing sales
network for new drug distribution. Pursuant to the current joint venture agreement that governs the ownership and management of Erye, or the Joint Venture
Agreement, which has been approved in principle by PRC governmental authorities, for the next three years (i) 49% of undistributed profits, after tax, will be
distributed to Suzhou Erye Economy and Trading Co. Ltd., or EET, which owns the remaining 49% of Erye, and loaned back to Erye for use in connection
with its construction of the new Erye facility; (ii) 45% of the net profit after tax will be provided to Erye as part of the new facility construction fund, which
will be characterized as paid-in capital for our 51% interest in Erye; and (iii) only 6% of the net profit will be distributed to us directly for our operating
expenses. As a result, we will not be able to supplement our cash flow fully from the operations and income expected to be generated by Erye.

We will need substantial additional capital to continue operations and additional capital may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

We will require substantial additional capital to fund our business plan, including additional research and development activities related to our
adult stem cell technologies and drug development efforts, and to support marketing efforts in the U.S. and China. Our actual cash requirements may differ
materially from those currently estimated.

At June 30, 2010, we had a cash balance of $10.9 million. The trading volume of our common stock, coupled with our history of operating losses
and liquidity problems, may make it difficult for us to raise capital on acceptable terms or at all. The demand for the equity and debt of small cap
biopharmaceutical companies like ours is dependent upon many factors, including the general state of the financial markets. As demonstrated over the last
year, during times of extreme market volatility, capital may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. Our inability to obtain such additional capital on
acceptable terms could materially and adversely affect our business operations and ability to continue as a going concern.
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We have a significant number of securities convertible into, or allowing the purchase of our common stock. Investors could be subject to increased
dilution. Also, the issuance of additional shares as a result of such conversion or purchase, or their subsequent sale, could adversely affect the price of
our common stock.

Investors in our company will be subject to increased dilution upon conversion of our preferred stock and upon the exercise of outstanding stock
options and warrants. There were 57,001,543 shares of our common stock outstanding as of August 16, 2010. As of that date, preferred stock outstanding
could be converted into 10,000 shares of our common stock and stock options and warrants outstanding that are exercisable represented an
additional 30,720,242 shares of our common stock that could be issued in the future. Most of the outstanding shares of our common stock, as well as the vast
majority of the shares of our common stock that may be issued under our outstanding options and warrants, are not restricted from trading or have the
contractual right to be registered.

Any significant increase in the number of shares offered for sale could cause the supply of our common stock available for purchase in the market
to exceed the purchase demand for our common stock. Such supply in excess of demand could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Actual and beneficial ownership of large quantities of our common stock by our executive officers, directors, and other substantial stockholders, may
substantially reduce the influence of other stockholders.

As of August 16, 2010, our executive officers, directors, and 5%-or-more stockholders collectively beneficially owned 45,430,148 shares of our
common stock. These beneficial holdings represent 64.9% of our common stock on a fully-diluted basis. As a result, such persons may have the ability to
exercise enhanced control over the approval process for actions that require stockholder approval, including: the election of our directors and the approval of
mergers, sales of assets or other significant corporate transactions or other matters submitted for stockholder approval. Because of the beneficial ownership
position of these persons and entities, other stockholders may have less influence over matters submitted for stockholder approval. Furthermore, at certain
times the interests of our substantial stockholders may conflict with the interests of our other stockholders.

Some of our directors and officers have positions of responsibility with other entities, and therefore have loyalties and fiduciary obligations to both our
company and such other entities. These dual positions subject such persons to conflicts of interest in related party transactions which may cause such
related party transactions to have consequences to our company that are less favorable than those which our Company could have attained in
comparable transactions with undffiliated entities.

Eric H.C. Wei, a member of our Board of Directors, is also the Managing Partner of RimAsia Capital Partners, L.P., or RimAsia. RimAsia, a
substantial stockholder of our company, beneficially owns 43.3% of our common stock as of August 16, 2010. Shi Mingsheng (who became a director of our
company in March 2010) and Madam Zhang Jian (the General Manager of Erye and the Company’s Vice President of Pharmaceutical Operations), together
with certain other persons, have shared voting and dispositive power over the shares of our common stock held by Fullbright Finance Limited, or Fullbright.
Fullbright is a substantial stockholder of our company, beneficially owning 8.3% of our common stock as of August 16, 2010. These relationships create, or,
at a minimum, appear to create potential conflicts of interest when members of our company’s senior management are faced with decisions that could have
different implications for our company and the other entities with which our directors or officers are associated.

Although the Company has established procedures designed to ensure that material related party transactions are fair to the Company, no assurance
can be given as to how potentially conflicted board members or officers will evaluate their fiduciary duties to the Company and to other entities that they may
owe fiduciary duties, respectively, or how such individuals will act in such circumstances. Furthermore, the appearance of conflicts, even if such conflicts
ultimately do not harm the Company, might adversely affect the public’s perception of our business, as well as its relationship with its existing customers,
licensors, licensees and service providers and its ability to enter into new relationships in the future.

Erye’s success is dependent upon its ability to establish and maintain its intellectual property rights.

In the PRC, there has been substantial litigation in the pharmaceutical industry with respect to the manufacturing, use and sale of new products. These
lawsuits relate to the validity and infringement of patents or proprietary rights of third parties. Erye has been and in the future may be required to commence
or defend against charges relating to the infringement of patent or proprietary rights. Any such litigation could: (i) require Erye to incur substantial expense,
even if it is insured or successful in the litigation; (ii) require Erye to divert significant time and effort of its technical and management personnel; (iii) result
in the loss of its rights to develop or make certain products; and (iv) require Erye to pay substantial monetary damages or royalties in order to license
proprietary rights from third parties. Erye recently was a party to a patent and copyright infringement dispute with respect to a particular antibiotics complex
it manufactured (representing less than 2% of Erye’s sales in 2009), as a result of which a judgment was rendered against Erye in the approximate amount of
5 million RMB (approximately $750,000) and enjoining it from manufacturing, marketing and selling this product. Erye is appealing the judgment and is also
engaged in settlement negotiations. See Note 13, Commitments and Contingencies, to the unaudited financial statements.
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Erye's production will be concentrated in two production lines and Erye will be operating in a new facility.

Erye recently passed the government inspection by the State Food and Drug Administration (“SFDA”) in China to manufacture penicillin powder for
injection and cephalosporin powder for injection at its new manufacturing facility which provides 50% greater manufacturing capacity than its existing
plant. The two production lines recently approved accounted for over 70% of Erye's product sales in 2009. More recently, these two production lines became
fully operational. These production lines, coupled with the approval of the lines earlier in 2010 for solvent crystallization sterile penicillin and freeze dried
raw sterile penicillin, is allowing Erye to relocate over 90% of its 2009 sales to the new facility. Any interruptions in production with respect to those lines
once they are operational at the new facility will have a material adverse effect on Erye's business and ours. There are inherent problems in commencing
operations at any new production facility. If Erye encounters operational difficulties in commencing production at its new facility, it could have a material
adverse effect on Erye's business and ours.

Fluctuations in the value of the Renminbi relative to the U.S. dollar could affect our operating results.

We prepare our financial statements in U.S. dollars, while our underlying businesses operate in two currencies, U.S. dollars and Chinese Renminbi. It
is anticipated that our Chinese operations will conduct their operations primarily in Renminbi and our U.S. operations will conduct their operations in dollars.
At the present time we do not expect to have significant cross currency transactions that will be at risk to foreign currency exchange rates. Nevertheless, the
conversion of financial information using a functional currency of Renminbi will be subject to risks related to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
The value of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by, among other things, changes in China’s political and
economic conditions and supply and demand in local markets. As we have significant operations in China, and will rely principally on revenues earned in
China, any significant revaluation of the Renminbi could materially and adversely affect our financial results. For example, to the extent that we need to
convert U.S. dollars we receive from an offering of our securities into Renminbi for our operations, appreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Beginning in July of 2005, the PRC government changed its policy of pegging the value of Renminbi to the U.S. dollar. Under the new policy, the
value of the Renminbi has fluctuated within a narrow and managed band against a basket of certain foreign currencies. However, the Chinese government has
come under increasing U.S. and international pressure to revalue the Renminbi or to permit it to trade in a wider band, which many observers believe would
lead to substantial appreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other major currencies. There can be no assurance that Renminbi will be stable
against the U.S. dollar. On June 19, 2010 the central bank of China announced that it will gradually modify its monetary policy and make the Renminbi’s
exchange rate more flexible and allow the Renminbi to appreciate in value in line with its economic strength.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Effective May 26, 2010, the Company issued 25,000 shares of restricted common stock to an investor pursuant to the exercise of a warrant issued in a private
placement of securities by the Company in May 2008. The exercise price was $1.75 per share, resulting in proceeds to the Company of $43,750.

Effective June 1, 2010, the Company issued 400,000 shares of restricted common stock to Fullbright Finance Limited (“Fullbright”), pursuant to the exercise
of a warrant issued to Fullbright in a private placement of securities by the Company in November 2008. The exercise price was $1.75 per share, resulting in
proceeds to the Company totaling $700,000.

Effective as of June 18, 2010, the Company issued to a law firm providing legal services to the Company with respect to obtaining funding from various
agencies of the State of New Jersey and Federal Government among other things, a five year warrant to purchase 25,000 shares of restricted common stock at
a per share exercise price of $2.52, vesting in its entirety on December 31, 2010.

Effective as of June 29, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with a consultant to act as a special strategic advisor from June 29, 2010 through
September 30, 2010. In consideration for providing services under this agreement, in addition to certain specified cash consideration, the Company agreed to
issue to the consultant 50,000 shares of restricted common stock, to vest in their entirety on September 30, 2010; and a five year warrant to purchase 50,000
shares of restricted common stock at a per share exercise price equal to $1.82, vesting in its entirety on September 30, 2010.

Effective as of June 30, 2010, the Company issued warrants to Rodman & Renshaw, LLC to purchase up to 93,023 shares of restricted common stock at a per
share exercise price of $2.6875 (with certain rights of cashless exercise) expiring May 10, 2015. These warrants were issued pursuant to the terms of a June
24, 2010 placement agent agreement under which Rodman & Renshaw, LLC acted as placement agent and whereby the Company completed a registered
direct transaction under a registration statement filed with the SEC which closed on June 30, 2010 and in which the Company sold 2,325,582 units at a
purchase price of $2.15 per unit (for aggregate gross proceeds of $5 million). The warrants issued to the placement agent were not covered by the registration
statement.
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The offer and sale by the Company of the securities described above were made in reliance upon the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(2) of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), for transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. The offer and sale of such
securities were made without general solicitation or advertising to “accredited investors” as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D promulgated
under the Securities Act.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None

ITEM 4. REMOVED AND RESERVED

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

(a) Exhibits

Exhibit Description Reference
1(a) Placement Agent Agreement, dated June 24, 2010, between NeoStem, Inc. and Rodman & Renshaw, LLC (1) 1.1

4(a) Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant for June 2010 (1) 4.1

4(b) Form of Placement Agent Warrant for June 2010 (1) 4.2

10(a) Form of Securities Purchase Agreement dated June 25, 2010 (1) 10.1
10(b) Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2010, by and between NeoStem, Inc. and Commerce Court 10.1

Small Cap Value Fund, Ltd. (2)

10(c) Amendment No. 2 dated April 29, 2010 to Exclusive License Agreement dated November 12, 2007 between Stem Cell ~ 10.1
Technologies, Inc. and the University of Louisville Research Foundation, Inc.*
10(d) English translations of Supplemental Lease Agreement (Assignment) dated as of February 20, 2010 among NeoStem 10.2

(China), Inc., Qingdao Niao Bio-Technology Company and Beijing Zhongguancun Life Science Park Development Co.,
Ltd. and related House Lease Agreement dated May 12, 2009 between Qingdao Niao Bio-Technology Company and
Beijing Zhongguancun Life Science Park Development Co., Ltd.*

10(e) Confidentiality Agreement dated as of April 30, 2010 between NeoStem, Inc. and Enhance BioMedical Holdings Limited* 10.3
10(f) Consulting Agreement dated as of May 11, 2010 between NeoStem, Inc. and RimAsia Capital Partners, LP* 10.4
10(g) Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement under NeoStem, Inc. 2009 Equity Compensation Plan * 10.5
10(h) Form of Grant Agreement under NeoStem, Inc. 2009 Non-U.S. Based Equity Compensation Plan* 10.6
10(i) Amendment No. 1 dated June 9, 2010 to Employment Agreement dated August 17, 2009 between NeoStem, Inc. and 10.1
Anthony Salerno(3)
10G) Offer Letter dated June 9, 2010 between NeoStem, Inc. and Madam Zhang Jian(3) 10.2
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.* 31.1
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.* 31.2
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.** 32.1
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.** 32.2
1) Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 28, 2010 as an exhibit, numbered as indicated above, to our
Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 25, 2010, which exhibit is incorporated here by reference
2) Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 19, 2010 as an exhibit, numbered as indicated above, to our
Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 19, 2010, which exhibit is incorporated here by reference
3) Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 11, 2010 as an exhibit, numbered as indicated above, to our

Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 9, 2010, which exhibit is incorporated here by reference

* Filed herewith
Hox Furnished herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

NEOSTEM, INC. (Registrant)

By: /s/ Robin Smith M.D.
Robin Smith M.D., Chief Executive Officer

Date: August 16, 2010

By: /s/Larry A. May
Larry A. May, Chief Financial Officer

Date: August 16, 2010

By: /s/ Christopher C. Duignan
Christopher C. Duignan, Chief Accounting Officer

Date: August 16, 2010
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Exhibit 10-1

[ ]

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO

EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN
UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE RESEARCH FOUNDATION, INC,
AND
STEM CELL TECHNOLOGIES, INC,

This Amendment No. 2 (the “Amendment™) is entered into this 20th day of April 2010 to that
exclusive license agreement (the "Original Agreement”) entered into the 12th day of November 2007, as
amended by Amendment No. | to Exclusive License Agreement dated February 27, 2009 (the
“Agreement”), by and between the University of Louisville Research Foundation, Inc. ("ULRF"), 2
Kentucky 501 (¢) 3 non-profit corporation having an office at Med Center Three, 201 E. Jefferson Street,
Suite 215, Louisville, KY 40202 as the agent of the University of Louisville { “UofL") and Stem Cell

Technologies, Ine. (“LICENSEE"), a Florida corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of NeoStem, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation, each with its prineipal place of business located at 420 Lexington Avenue, Suite

450, New York, New York 10021,
RECITALS

WHEREAS, ULRF and Licensee entered into the Agreement whereby Licensee licensed the
tights to the Licensed Technology for the commercial development, use and sale of the Licensed

Technology.

WHEREAS, ULRF and Licensee acknowledge their desire that the Development Plan deseribed
in Seetion 3.3 be completed in furtherance of the parties mutual benefit;

WHEREAS, ULRF and Licensee after discussion desire to amend Section 3.3 of the Agreement
to extend certain dates set forth therein for a one-time payment from the Company, all as further
described herein,

NOW, THEREFORE, ULRF and LICENSEE hereby agree as follows:

1. “Section 3.3 - Development Plan” of the Agreement shall be further
amended so that the second and third sentences theveaf shall read in their
entirety as set forth below:

“In consideration of a ene-time payment from Licensee 1o the ULRF in the

amount of $22,000, which shall be peyable upon full execution of Amendment

No. 2 to this Agreement, no later than June 30, 2012 LICENSEE shall provide




ULEF with a list of its desired, specific fields of use of the Licensed
Technology and the definition of Field of Use set forth in 1.1.3 shall be deemed
amended accordingly. No later than December 31, 2012, LICENSEE will
provide ULRF with a draft Development Plan writien in the format set forth in
Exhibit I for each specific field of use of the Licensed Technology included an
the aforementioned list, satisfactory to ULRF, in its reasonable discretion and
describing the steps it intends to take which it believes in good faith will result
in allowing the inventions of the Licensed Patents to be utilized to provide
Licensed Products for sale in the commercial market, which shall further
include those steps taken, or to be taken, by Affiliates and sublicensees, as it

may have been advised by Affiliates and sublicensees.

Except as set forth herein, the Agreement shall remain unchanged. Initially capitalized terms not
otherwise described herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement,

THEREFORE, the parties have executed this Agreement in duplicate originals by their duly
authorized officers or representatives.

Stemn Cell Technologies Inc,

UNTVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE -
REFEARCH F?}N[’A’ELE;. INC. / ;

| i rd

Y J o ULV\}W

James K. Zanewice, Direct b Robin Smith, President <& &

2o

Date

Date Y 4 {ch f 7
/ i




Exhibit 10-2

Supplemental Lease Agreement

Party A: Beijing ZhongGuanCui Life Science Park Development Company

Party B: QD Niao Bio-Technology Company

Party C: NeoStem (China), Inc.

This agreement is additional to the three copies of lease agreement signed by Party A &
B on May 12, 2009, transferring the obligations & rights listed below:

1.

O May 12, 2009 parties A & B have signed three copies of the lease agreement
for rooms# D004, D201 & A211 at Life Science Park,

After negotiated & agreed by all three parties, all the obligations & rights in the
lease mentioned above have been transferred from party B to party C from the
date the supplemental agreement was signed. All articles in the agreement
remain unchanged.

Party C's registered capital was not in place then, so the original lease
agreement was signed by party B with Party A the leasor. The lease has been
transferred from party B to parly C since the registered process has been
completed & business has operated normally. Therefore the supplemental
agreement is signed by all three parties.

EMB 485,494.71 deposit paid by party B, when the original lease was signed,
will be taken over by party C after reaching an agreement by all three parties.

The supplemental agreement is valid from the date all three parties have signed.
For a total of nine copies, three copies will be distributed 10 each party & have
same legal effect.




Party A: Beijing ZhongGuanCui Life Science Park Company
Legal Rep.: Shu Guang Yuan

Signing date: February 20, 2010

Party B: QD Niao Bio-Technology Company
Legal Rep.: Hong Bing Liu

Signing date: February 20, 2010

Party C: MNeoStem (China), Inc.
Legal Rep.: Ping Sun

Signing date: February 20, 2010
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Three copies <<Lease Agreement>>




House Lease Agreement

Lessor: Beijing Zhongguancun Life Science Park Development Co., Ltd. (“Party
A”)

Address: 29 Shengmingyuan Road, Changping District, Beijing City

Posteode: 102206

Legal representative: Yuan Shuguang

Lessee: (“Party B")
Address:  Room 402, Building 9, No. 61, Fushan Road, Qingdao City
Postcode: 266000

Legal representative: Liu Hong Bing

Party A and Party B arrive at the following house lease agreement in the spirit of
equality, free will and consensus and in accordance with Conrract Law of the People s

Repuhlic of China, and other relevant laws and regulations.

Article 1 Basic information about the house to be leased
The house leased owt by Party A is Room A211 {details of its location and plan are
given in Appendixes) of Biotech Innovation Center of Beijing Zhongguancun Life
Science Park, is of rebar concrete structure, 5.4 m in height, 287.36 m? in floorage, and

is used for office work.

Article 2 Responsibilities and obligations of Party A
2.1 Party A shall ensure that it has full ownership over of the house. Party A shall deal
with all disputes on ownership or leasehold of the house between Parly B and the
third Party for reasons ascribable to Parly A, and shall undertake all the legal
liabilities,
2.2 Ensure that Party B can use the target house under this Agreement under the

premise of duly fulfilling this Agreement.

Article 3 Responsibilitics and obligations of Party B
3.1 Pay the vent, property management fee and relevant energy fees as agreed upon in
this Agreement,
3.2 Use the house for the purpose as agreed upon in this Agreement, and protect the
(acilities in the house.

3.3 Formulate comprehensive safely management regulations and emergency response




plan, and undertake the safety responsibility of public order, fire control, environmental
protection, etc, within the scope of subject matter,
3.4 Observe the property management regulations of Party A before the establishment

of owners committee.

Article 4 Lease period and lease price of the house
4.1 The period for Party B leasing in Room A211 of Innovation Center is 28 months,
namely from 11 January 2010 1o 10 May 2012,

4.2 From 11 January 2010 to 10 May 2010, Party A charges rent from Party B at the
preferential price of RMB3.0/day/m” floorage, and the monthly rent is RMB
twenty-six thousand two hundred and twenty-one point six (RMB26,221.60).
From 11 May 2010 to the expiry of Agreement, Party A charges rent from Party B
according Lo the standard price of RMB3,5/day/m” floorage, and the menthly rent
is RMB thirty thousand five hundred and ninety-one point eight seven
(RMB30.,591.87).

4.3 In the validity period of the Agreement, Party B shall, according 1o the agreement
signed between it and relevant management company appointed by Pary A, pay
property management fee and energy fee 1o the properly management company
appointed by Party A.

Article § Method of payvment of rent

3.1 This Agreement adopis the payment method of “three months’ security deposit plus
a prepayment of three months’ rent”, namely, three months is a payment period,
and three months’ rent is required to be paid cach time.

5.2 In making the first payment of rent to Party A, Party B shall pay additional three

months’ rent as security deposit for house lease.

5.3 Party B shall make the first payment within five workdays after signing this
Agreement, with the security deposit of RMB ninety-one thousand seven hundred
and seventy-five point six one (RMB91.775.61), the rent of RMB seventy-eight
thousand six hundred and sixty-four point eight (RMB78,664.8), 1otalling one
hundred and  sevemty thousand four hundred and forly point four one
(RMB170,440.41). Afterwards Party B shall pay rent every three months on the 1%
day to the 10" day of each payable month (the first month afler “every three
months™).

5.4 The sccurity deposit specified in Paragraph 2 of Article 5 of this Agreement is the
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security deposit for Party B leasing in the property under this Agreement. When
Party B returns the house, Parly A and its appointed property management
company (“property management company™) will return all the security deposit to
Party B within five workdays after confirming that no damage (excluding normal
wear and damage) has happened 1o the house; for any loss and damage, Party A
and Party B will sign Agreement on Damage according to the actual damages of
the house upen friendly negotiation, and make corresponding deduetion from the
security deposit as agreed upon in the said agreement, and Party A shall return the
remaining amount of the security deposit to Party B within five workdays after the
deduction. If the security deposit is not enough to cover the actual damages, Party

B shall make up the compensation for Party A according to actual damages.

Article 6 Delivery of house
Party A shall deliver the house to Pany B within five werkdays afier signing this
Agreement, and shall check the internal facilities and energy supply of the house
together with the property management company, and the checklist shall take effect
upon affixing of signatures of both parties thereto. Party A shall move away all the
office furniture and other moveable articles (if any) within the scope of the subject
matter before delivering the house, and shall not dismantle the existing fixed facilities

and equipments of the house without the written consent of Party B.

Article 7 Liabilities for delaying pavment
In the lease period, if Party B delays paying rent, it shall pay forfeit to Party A as

per “0.2% of payable rent” per day of delay. In the payable month, Party A may send a

five workdays’ notice to Party B to inform the payable fee and period.

Article § Supply and fees for the normal operation of infrastructure and
public supporting facilities of the house

8.1 Party A shall ensure power supply for the office work of Party B,

8.2 Parly B shall pay electricity fee aceording 10 the electric meter readings and the
property management agreement signed between it and the properly management
company appointed by Party A.

8.3 Air conditioning shall be subject to the agreement signed between Party B and
relevant management company appointed by Party A.

8.4 Party B shall carefully and properly use the house and the facilities in it, and shall




ensure strict and rational safety management. Party A shall regularly check and

remove potential fire and safely dangers of the house and all of its facilities
belonging to Party A, and Party B shall support Party A in that work.

8.5 Party B shall be responsible for safety affairs like environmental safety and public

safety within the scope of use of the house leased, and shall, according to Safeqy

Responsibility Agreement, bear all liabilities for all the safety accidemts and

damages caused by it

Article 9 Agreements on decoration

9.1 Party B shall maintain the original function and appearance of the house in order

to safeguard the overall interests of property.

9.2 Party B shall not dismantle or change the original supporting facilities of the house
without filing a written application with the properiy management company and
receiving a written reply.

9.3 The property management company appointed by Party A will provide all possible
conveniences in the decoration period and assist Party B in handling matiers
concerning reporting for approval and acceptance of the decoration.

9.4 The design of the appearance of Party B's company in the public area shall conform
to the unified requirements specified by the property management depariment of
Party A, and the signboard shall also be made according to the unified
specifications speeified by Party A.

9.5 If this Agreement is terminated or cancelled, Party B shall remove all the
decorations of the house in order to restore the house to its original state. Party B
shall remove its decorations on the house within 25 workdays after expiry of this
Agreement. Unless otherwise approved by Party A, if Party B does not remove all
or part of the decorations within 25 workdays afler termination or cancellation of
this Agreement, Party A has the right 1o remove the said decorations, and
reasonable fees arising therefrom shall be undertaken by Party B. Party A or any
third party intending to have the said decorations shall obain approval from Pany
B. and the compensation for decoration fee shall be negotiated between the parties

concerned.

Article 10 Relevant property management agrecments

10.1' The management on public propertics of the building shall be under the charge of
El




the property management company appointed by Parly A before establishment of
owners committee.

10.2  Party B shall sign a property management agreement with the property
management company appointed by Pariy A to specify the matters concerning the
services and fees.

10.3 Afier the occupancy rate of the building reaches 80%, an owners committee will
be established to determine the matters concerning the management on public

properties.

Article 11 Repair of the house and Tacilities
1.1 Party A shall undertake the responsibility for repairing the damages caused by
nonhuman factors to the durable facilities of the house 1o be leased, and
undertake corresponding repair expenses.

11.2 For the damages of the house and facilities caused by improper use of Party B, the
property management department will assist Party B in repairing, and Party B
shall undertake the repair expenses,

1.3 The quality guarantee period of the repair of the house is one month, starting from

the date of the completion of repair.

Article 12 Other matters negotiated between the two parties

12,1 Party A possesses the right to use and name the roofs and outer walls of the

building where the house is in.

12.2 The house leased in by Party B shall be used for office work only, and the lessee
shall not arbitrarily change the main structure, load bearing structure and purpose
of the house, and shall not arbitrarily build windows in the outer wall of the house
or change the positions of public pipelines and other equipments, and shall not
exceed the load standard of the house and its facilities such as power system
confirmed in the technical disclosure between the two partics.

12.3 Party B has the right, together with other obligees, to enjoy the public places and
facilities related 1o the house in the lease period, and shall fulfil corresponding
obligations according to the occupied area and the shared area of public places
and houses.

12.4 MNeither party shall arbitrarily change the functions of the public places and

facilities related 1o the house.




12,5 Considering that some users of the building use electricity above the designed
load, if'it is necessary to upgrade equipments and increase power capacity in the
future because the existing power capacity fails to meet the demands of users,
the investment of the said project shall be undertaken by the parties using
electricity above the designed load.

12,6 Party B and its employees can enter, leave and use the leased property around the

o'clock every day.

Article 13 Settlement of disputes
Any dispute arising in the performance of this Agreement shall preferably be
seliled through negotiation between the two parties, or if negotiation fails, be filed

with the peaple’s court of the location where the Agreement is performed.

Article 14 Cancellation of Agreement

14.1 1T Party B intends to cancel this Agreement upon negotiation, Party B shall inform
Party A in written form 30 days in advance. If Party B has decorated the house
leased, Party A has the right to ask Party B to restore the house to its original state,
and Party A shall return the security deposit and undue rent of the house if the
property is accepted. Al that time, Party A has the right to deduct one month’s rent
from the security deposit of Party B as compensation.

14.2 Ifany problem is found in the acceptance test of the property, Party A will, upon
friendly negotiation with Party B, deduct corresponding amount from the seeurity
deposit of Party B according 1o the damages of the property, and Party B does not
bear liabilities for the natural damage of the property during the normal use of it

[4.3 If Parly B has delayed payment of payable rent for more than three months, Pany

A has the right to require cancelling this Agreement, and require Party B to undertake

the liabilitics for breach of the Agreement according to Article 7 of this Agreement.

Article 15 Validation of Agreement
This Agreement shall come into effect as from the date of conclusion. Any matter not
covered in this Agreement may be provided for through a supplementary agreement

upen friendly negetiation between the two partics.

Article 16 Extension of lease
If Parly I intends 1o continue leasing the house after expiry of this Agreement,

Parly B shall file a writien request with Parly A 90 days before expiry of this Agreement;




and Party B shall have the right of first refusal under the same conditions, and a new
lease agreement shall be signed after Party A approves the written application for

extension of lease upon negotiation with Party B.

Article 17 Amendment of Agreement
If Party B registers a new company (the newly registered company shall meet the
intake conditions of Innovation Center) in the validity period of the agreement, Party A
and Party BB agree to transfer relevant rights and obligations of this Agreement to the
said newly registered company, and will together with this company sign a three-party
agreement to confirm specific rights and obligations.
Article 18 Legal interpretation of Agreement
Interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws and regulations of
the Pecple’s Republic of China, and the legitimate rights and interests of the two parties
to this Agreement are protected by the laws of the People’s Republic of China.
Article 19 Foree majeure
19.1 If any damage of the house, suspension of energy supply, damage of the
infrasiructure of the house, etc. arising from any force majeure impedes Party B
using the house normally as per this Agreement, Party A shall make the best
effort to recover the nonmal use of the house as soon as possible, Party A shall
agree to reduce or exempt rent or prolong the lease period according to the
negative impact sustained by Party B.
192 If the house can not be used normally for more than iwo months due to force
majeure, Parly B has the right to terminate this Agreement with a written notice
1o Party A. Party A shall return the security deposit and undue rent in full within

five workdays after receiving the notice of termination of this Agreement.

Article 20 Others
20.1 This Agreement consists of 20 artieles and two appendixes with the same legal
foree,
20.2 This Agreement shall be executed in six counterparts, with three held by either

party.

Appendixes: |. House location and plan
2, Salety Responsibility Agreement of Zhongguancun Life Science Park
7




Party A: Beijing Zhongguancun Life Science Park Development Co., Ltd. (Seal)
Legal represemative (or authorized agent): Yuan Shuguang

Signing date: May 12, 2009

Pariy B: Qingdao Niao Bio-Technology Company
Legal represemative (or authorized agent): Liu Hongbing

Signing date: May 12, 2009




CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

THIS CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement™) is made and entered into
&s of this 36" day of ﬂﬂ{ il , 2010, by and between NeoStem, Inc. (the “Disclosing Party”) and
Enhance BioMedical Holdings Limited (the “Recipient™).

RECITALS

A.  The Recipient has expressed an interesi in having the Disclosing Party provide
certain financial, business, legal or other information to the Recipient in connection with the
Recipient's performance of activities in connection with business initiatives pursued jointly by
the Recipient and the Disclosing Party (such activities, the “Business Initiatives™).

B. Such information concerning the Disclosing Party, its business and assets to be
disclosed in connection with the Business Initiatives is nonpuhlic, confidential and/or proprietary
in nature. :

C. In connection with the provision of such information, the Recipient has agreed to
maintain the confidentiality of, and agreed to restrict the use of, such information.
AGREEMENT

In consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutual covenants and the agreements
hereafier set forth, and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending o be legally bound, hereby agree
as follows:

Section 1. Definitions. As uwsed in this Agreement, the following terms have the
meanings stated in this Section 1:

“MeoStem Material” means (a) all information, data, agreements, documents, reports,
“know-how”, interpretations, plans, studies, forecasts, projections and records {whether in oral or
written form, electronically stored or otherwise) containing or otherwise reflecting information
concerning the Disclosing Party, any of its subsidiarics or affiliates, their respective businesses
or assets and other information, whether received before or after the date of this Agreement, (b)
all memoranda, notes, analyses, compilations, studies or other documents which reflect, were
developed based upon or which include any such NeoStem Material (whether in written form,
electronically stored or otherwise), whether prepared by the Disclosing Party, the Recipient or
any other Person, and (¢} this Agreement, the terms, provisions and conditions of this
Agreement, the existence or pupose of this Agreement or any of the tenms, conditions or other
facts with respect to the Business Initiatives; provided, however, that *NeoStem Material™ does
not include, with respect to clauses (a) and (b) of this paragraph, (i) information which is
obtained by the Recipient from a source other than the Disclosing Party unless such source is or
was bound by a contractual, legal or fiduciary obligation with respect to such information, or (it}
information which is or becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of a

disclosure by the Recipient or its Representatives in violation of the provisions of this Agrec/l/{?\i
e 37
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or by disclosure by any other Person in violation of any contractual legal, or fiduciary obligation,

“Person™ means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability company,
an association, a trust or any other entity or organization of any kind, including, without
limitation, a governmental authority or agency.

“Representative™ with respeet to the either party, means such party's affiliates and such
party's and its’ affiliates respective agents, members, managers, partners, directors, officers,
employees and professional advisors {including but not limited to attorneys, accountants and
financial advisors).

Section 2. Agreemenl Not to Disclose or Use NeaStem Material.

{(a)  Mon-Disclosure of NeoStem Material. The Recipient shall not and shall cause its
Representatives not to, directly or indirectly, disclose, reveal, divalge, publish or otherwise make
known any of the NeoStem Material to any Person for any reason or purpose whatsoever, except
as provided in Section 2(¢) or Section 3 below. Except as otherwise provided herein, the
Recipient shall wreat the NeoStem Material as confidential at all times. The Recipient ghall not,
and shall cause its Representatives not to, make any copies of the NeoStem Malerial except to
the extent absolutely necessary or required in connection with the Business Initiatives,

(b}  Limitations on Use of NeoStem Material. The Recipient shall, and shall cause its
Representatives to, use the NeoStem Material solely for the purpose of the Business Initiatives in
accordance with the tenms of this Agreement. The Recipient shall not, and shall cause its
Representatives not to, directly or indirectly, use, or permit any other Person to use, the NeoStem
Material for any reason or purpese other than the Business Initiatives or in any manner adverse
to, or to the detriment of, the Disclosing Party or its Representatives.

{c) Permitted Disclosure. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2(a) above, the
Recipient may disclose the NeoStem Material 10 its Representatives who (x) need to know such
information to enable the Recipient to perform its responsibilitics in connection with the
Business Initiatives, (y) are informed of the confidential nature of the NeoStem Material and (z)
agree to be bound by the terms of this Agreement. Such Representatives may use the MNeoStem
Material only in stricl accordance with the provisions of Section 2(b) above. The Recipient shall
be fully responsible for any breach of this Agreement by any of its Representatives.

{d})  Ownership. The NeoStem Material is owned solely and exclusively by the
Disclosing Party, shal] remain the exclusive property of the Disclosing Party, and the Recipient
shall have na right, title or interest in, to or under any of the NeoStem Material or any material
developed from the NeoStem Material.

.

Section 3.  Compelled Disclosure. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2 of
this Agreement to the conteary, if the Recipient or any of its Representatives are required to
disclose any NeoStem Material pursuant to any applicable law, rule or regulation, the Recipient
shall promptly notify the Disclosing Party in writing of any such requirement so that the
Disclosing Party may seek an appropriate protective order or other appropriate remedy or waive
compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. The Recipient shall, and shall cause its
Representalives to, reasonably cooperate with the Disclosing Party to obtain such a protective
order or other remedy. 1f such order or other remedy is not obtained, or the Disclosing P37

-




waives compliance with the provisions of this Agreement, the Recipient and its Representatives
shall disclose only thal poriion of the NeoStem Material which they are advised by counsel in
writing that they are legally required to so disclose and shall obtain reliable assurance that
confidential treatment will be accorded the NeoStem Material so disclosed.

Section 4, Retuen ot Destruction of MNeoStem Material.  Immediately upon the
request of the Disclosing Party, the Recipient shall, and shall cause its Representatives to, return
to the Disclosing Party all NeoStem Material in tangible form (whether in written form,
electronically stored o otherwise), and neither the Recipient nor any of its Representatives shall
retain any copies thereof. In addition, all NeoStem Material in clectronic form shall be deleted
from the Recipient’s and its Representatives’ computer systems and from all back-up and archive
tapes so that nothing remains in electronic form that constitutes or contains NeoStem Material.
Upon the request of the Disclosing Party, the Recipient shall certify in writing such return to the
Disclosing Party, and such electromic deletion, in each case as required by this Section 4,

Section 5.  No Apency Relationship. Recipient shall not represent itself to be an
agent or employee of the Disclosing Party or 1o be related to the Disclosing Party other than as
an outside advisor to or a stockholder of the Disclosing Party. Except to the extent expressly
authorized by the Disclosing Party in writing, Recipient is not authorized to waive any right or to
incur, enter into, assume, or create any debl, obligation, agreement or release of any kind
whatsoever in the name of or on behalf of the Disclosing Party (or any affiliate thereof) or in any
way to bind the Disclosing Party (or any affiliate thereof).

Section 6, Specific Performance.

(a)  Acknowledgment. The Recipient hereby acknowledges and agrees that the
breach or threatened breach of the provisions of this Agreement by the Recipient or any of its
Representatives would cause the Disclosing Party and its Representatives irreparable harm and
that money damages would not be an adequate remedy for any breach or threatened breach of the
provisions of this Agreement by the Recipient or any of its Representatives.

(b)  Specific Performance. The Recipient hereby agrees on behalf of itzelf and its
Representatives that the Disclosing Party and its Representatives shall be entitled 1o equitable
relief, including, without limitation, an injunction or injunctions (without the requirement of
posting a bond, other security or any similar requirement or proving any actual damages), o
prevent breaches or threatened breaches of this Agreement by the Recipient or any of its
Representatives and to specifically enforce (he terms and provisions of this Agreement, this
being in addition to any other remedy to which the Disclosing Party or its Representatives may
be entitled at law or in equity.

Section 7.  Indemmification. The Recipient shall indemnify and defend the Disclosing
Party and its Representatives and cach of their respective dircctors, officers, employees,
mangagers, members, pariners, shareholders, agents and affiliates (collectively, the *Indemnified
Persons") agaimst and hold each Indemnified Person harmbess from any and all liabilities,
obligations, losses, damages, costs, expenses, claims, penalties, lawsuits, proceedings, actions,
judgments, disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever, interest, fines, settlements and
reasonable atlomeys’ fees and expenses that the Indemnified Persons may incur, suffer, sustain
or become subject to arising out of, relating to, or due to the breach of this Agreement by the

Recipient or any of iis Representatives. The provisions of this Section 7 shall SV%




indefinitely any termination of this Agreement.

Section 8.  Securities Laws. The Recipient hereby acknowledges that it is aware, and
that Recipient shall advise its Representatives who are informed of the matters that are the
subject of this Agreement, that the United States securities laws prohibit any person who has
material, nen-public information concerning an issuer from purchasing or selling securities of
such issuer or from communicating such information to any other person when it is reasonably
foresecable that such other persen is likely to purchase or sell such securities. The Recipient
covenants and agrees that it shall comply, and shall cause ils Representatives to comply, with all
applicable securities laws, For the avoidance of doubt, it is acknowledged by the Recipient that
the NeoStem Material includes material, non-public information concering the Disclosing Party
and it is agreed that neither Recipient nor its Representatives shall trade in any securities of the
Disclosing Party while in possession of such information.

Section 9. Miscellaneous.

(a)  Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications to any party or
given under this Agreement must be in writing and delivered personally, by overnight delivery or
courier, by registered mail or by telecopier (with confirmation received) to the parties at the
address or telecopy number specified for such parties on the signature pages hereto (or at such
other address or telecopy number as may be specified by a party in writing given at least five
business days prior thereto).

{h)  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultancously in one or more
counterparts, and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when
executed will be deemed an original, but all of which taken together will constitute one and the
same instrument.

(¢} Amendment of Apreement; Assigns. This Agreement may nol be amended,
modificd or waived except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties

hereto. This Agreement shall be binding upen, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by the
respective successors and permilted assigns of, the parties hereto, |

(d) overnis w. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts executed in and 1o be
performed entirely within that state, without reference to conflicts of laws provisions,

{¢)  Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE DISCLOSING PARTY AND THE
RECIPIENT HEREBY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
LAWSUIT OR ACTION TO ENFORCE OR DEFEND ANY RIGHT UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT AND AGREES THAT ANY LAWSUIT OR ACTION WILL BE TRIED
BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY.

(n Submission to Jurisdiction. Each of the Disclosing Party and the Recipient
hereby (i) agrees that any lawsuit, proceeding or action with respect to this Agreement may be
brought only in the courts of the State of New York or of the United States of America for the
Southem District of New York, (ii) accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and
unconditionally, the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts, {iii) imrevocably waives any objection,
including, without limitation, any objection to the laying of venue or based on the gmum?f

b




foram nen conveniens, which it may now or hereafler have to the bringing of any lawsuit,
proceeding or action in those jurisdictions, and (iv) irrevocably consents to the service of process
of any of the courts referred to above in any lawsuit, proceeding or action by the mailing of
copies of the process to the parties hereto as provided in clause () above. Service effected as
provided in this manner will become effective ten calendar days after the mailing of the process.

{8)  MNe_ Strict Construction. This Agreement was negotiated fully and equally
between the parties and their legal counsel, and any ambiguity in this Agreement shall not be
construed against any particular party as a result of the drafting hercof.

[Signature page follows]

.




[N WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed
as of the date and year first written above,

DISCLOSING PARTY:

Address for Notices: NEOSTEM, INC.
Facsimile No.: By: '
Nafie: Rodiw L. Sweth
Title: Y
RECIPIENT:
Address for Notices: ENHANCE  BIOMEDICAL  HOLDINGS
LIMITED

"/%\' {5 R
Facsimile No.: By: ¥ —_—

MName: Tac\":'sm f‘f-?}

Title:

1852141 ///
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CONSULTING AGREEMENT

THIS CONSULTING AGREEMENT, dated as of May 11, 2010, is entered into by and
hetween RimAsia Capital Partners, LP, & Cayman Islands exempted limited parinership,
including its zeneral and limited pariners (hereinafier, the “Advisor™), having an address al 1807
Harbour Cenire, 25 Tlarbour, Wanchai, Hong Kong, and NeoStem, Ine., a Delavare corporation
(the *Company™, having offices al 420 Lexington Avenus, Suite 450, New York, Mew York
10170,

WHEREAS, the Company is exploting various pharmaceatical and biotech
ventuses in China, as more fully described in the Company's periodic filings with the Securitics
and Bxchange Commission (the "Business™), and

WH"E'R'EAS, the Company secks to benefit from the Adviser's expertise,
particularly in the Asian merkets,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutnal covenanty
set forth herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sulficiency of which
are hereby aclnowledgad, the Company and the Adviser hereby agree as follows:

l. Relationship, () The Advisor is hereby engaged by the Company w8 an
independent advisor. If and when requested by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, the
Advisor from time to time will (a) provide advice to the Company with respect Lo seientific,
business or financial services relating to the Company and those companies with which the
Company enters into, or seeks or considers entering inte, business relationships in furtherance of
the Business, or doing business in China in general; (b} assist the Company in evaluating,
structuring and negoliating any potential lransaction with potential partners in the Business; and

_{e) otherwise provide assistanee o the Company from fime 1o time a5 requested by the Chief'

Executive Officer, The Advisor shall not be, and shall nol represent itself or any of its agenis lo
anyone as, an emplovee of the Company or entitled to any employment rights or benefils from
the Company, nor shall it in any way be entitied to bind or act for the Company or incur any
obligations on behalf of the Company, The Advisar agrees to use its best efforts (o perform
services hereundey and to advance the interests of the Company. The Adviser shail report fo the
Chief Executive Officer, and sll business decisions with respect to any services provided by the
Advisor hereunder shall be made only by the Chief Executive Officer or an appropriale
copmitiee of the Board of Dirsctors of the Company.

(I} The parties hereto agree that the Advisor will be performing services heveunder
salely ag an independent contractor on 2 non-exclusive basis, No relationship of principal and
agent, employer and employee, master and servant, partners, joint venturers or otherwise is
created by this Agreement, and neither party has any autherity, express or implied, to act on
behrlf of the ather. The Advisor will act only on the express written request of the Chicl

Execcutive Officer of the Company.
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2. Compensation, The Advisor s a major equity holder of the Company.
The Advisor belicves that the services to be rendered hereunder will provide it with sulficient
benefit as an equity holdey, and it shall not be entitled 10 any additional consideration hereunder.

3 Term and Termination. The term of this Agreement shall commence 28
of the date hereof and shall continue for a torm of one year. The term of this Agreement shall be
automatically renewed for consecutive one-year periods unless and until either party notifies the
other of its intention 1o temiinate this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either parly
shatl lhave the right to terminate this Agreement at any time, upon written notice to the other, for
amy reason o no reason at all, prior to the end of tha term,

4, Confidentiality. The Advisor agrees to exccule and perform the
Confidentialiny Agreement (the “Confidentiality Agreement™) in the form attached hereto as
Annex A. Inperfonming its duties hereunder, the Advisor will act in accordance with all
applicabie laws, including US securitics laws,

&, Rights in Work Preduct. All materials prepared for the Company by the
Advisor under this Agreement and any interest therein shall be considered a work made for hite
and made in the course of the services rendered wader this Agreement. The Adviser shall
immediately upon the effective date of termination of this Agreement turn over (o the Compaiy
ali materials developed in the course of providing services undey this Agreement, including
without limitation presentations, analyses, narrative deseriptions, reports and data, including all
copies of the foregoing. The Advisor shall retain all rights to any work product created by the
Advizor and its employees not in the course of providing services under this Agreement,

6. Advisor's Representations and Warranties. The Advisor represenis and
warrants 1o the Company that the Advisor is not under any legal obligation, including any
obligation of canfidentiality or non-competition, which prevents the Advisor from executing or
fully performing this Agreement, or which would render such execution or performance a breach
of contract with any third party, or which would give any {hird party any rights in any intellectual
property which mipht be developed by the Advisor hereunder,

7. Company’s Representations and Warranties. The Company represents and
wirrants to the Advisor that the Company is not under any legal obligalion which provents he
Advisar from executing or fully performing this Agreement, or which weould render such
execution or performance a breach of contract with any third party.

8. Scverability. In the event any provision of this Agreement is determined
by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unsnforceable, the parties will negotiate in good faith
ta restore the unenforceable provision to an enforceable state and to provide reasonable additions
or adjustments 10 the terms of (he other provisions of this Agreement so as to render the whole
Agresment valid and binding 1o the fullest extent possible, and in any evenl, (his Agreement
shall be interpreted to be valid and binding %o the fullest extent possible. This Agreement may
not be changed orally, hut may be changed only in & writing executed by the party to be charged
with enforcement.




9. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction, The validity, interprelation,
performance, and enforcement of this Agresment shall be governad by the laws of the State of
Mew York. In addition, each party iivevocebly submits to the exelusive jurisdiction of the couris
of the State of New York and the United States Iistrict Count for the District of New York which
shall serve as the only forums for any suit, action, proceeding or judgment relating 1o or arising
out of this Agreement and the transactions contemnplated hereby. Service of process in
cotmection with any such suit, action or preceeding may be served on either party anywhere in
the wartd by Federal Express or other express cotrier service.

10.  Indemnifieation. The Company shall indemnify and defend the Advisor,
its affiliates, and each af their respective directors, officers, employees, managers, members,
partners, sharcholders, agents and affiliates (collectively, the “Indemnified Persons”) against and
hold each [ndemnified Person harmless from any and all lizhilities, obligations, |losses, damages,
costs, expenses, claims, penalties, lawsuils, proceedings, actions, judgments, disbursements of
any kind or nature whatsoever, interest, fines, settlements and reasonable atiormeys' fees and
expenses that the Indemmified Persons may incur, suffer, sustain or become subject to arising out
of, relating to, or due to the services provided under this Agreement, except for gioss negligence,
willlil misconduct or fraud. The provisions of this Section 10 shall survive indefinitely any
ternination of this Agrezment,

[The rermainder of this page is intentionally left blanlk.]




[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CONSULTING AGREEMENT]

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have duly exccuted this
Agpreement as of the day and vear first above written,

NEOSTEM, INC.
T LY i e TR
Neme! wil Ot

Title: irwan el LEO

RIMASIA CAPITAL PARTNERS, L.

By: RimAsia Capital Partners GP, L.P.
its general partner

By: RimAsia CapilalPariners G, Tid,
Its general partner

By M., L Ly
Name: Eric [1LC. Wei
Title: Director




ANMEX A

CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

THIS CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT fthis “Agreement™) is made and entered indo
as of this 11th day of May, 2010, by and between NeoStem, Ine. (the *Disclosing Party”) and
RimAsia Capital Partners, LT (the “Recipient™).

RECITALS

A The Recipient 15 performing certan consulting services on behalf of the
Discloging Party and in connection therewith may from time o time be provided with certain
firancial, business, legal or other information in connection with the Recipient's performance of
the consulting services (such activilies, the “Consylting Services™).

B, Sugh information concerning the Disclosing Party, its business and assels o be
disciosed 11 conmection with the Copsulting Services is nonpublic, confidential andior
proprielary in nature,

&, In connection with the provision of such information, the Recipient has agreed (o
imaintain the confidentislity of, and agreed to restrict the use of, such information.

ACREEMENT

In consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutuel eovenams and the agreements
hereafler set forth, and other good and velusble consideration the receipl and sulficiency of
which are hersby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legatly bound. hereby apgree
as follows:

Ssction 1,  Definitions. As used i this Agreement, the following torms have the
meanings stated in this Section |

“NepStem Material® means (a) all information, dats, agresments, docuraents, roports,
“knaw-how”, interpretations, plans, studies, forecasts, projestions and records (whether v orat or
written form, electronically stored or ofherwise) containing or otherwise reflecting information
concerning the Disclosing Party, any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, their wespective busincsses
or assets and other information, received for the purpose of providing the Consulting Sevvices,
whether reseived before or afier the date of this Agreement, (b) all memoranda, notes, analyses,
compilations, studies or other documents which reflect, were developed based upon or which
include any such NeoStem Material (whethey in written form, electronically stored or otherwise),
whether prepared by the Disclosing Party, the Recipient or any other Person, and (c) this
Agreement, the terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement, the existence or purpose of
this Agreement or any of the terms, conditions or other facts with respect to the Consulting
Services; provided, however, that “NeoStem Malerial” does not include, with respeet to clauses
{a) and (%) of this paragraph, (1) information which is obtained by the Reeiplent from 2 source
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other than the Disclosing Party unless such source is or was bound by a contractual, legal o
fiduciary ohligation with respect to such information, or (i) information which is or becomes
generally available 10 the public other than as & result of a disclosure by the Resipient ov its
Representatives in violation of the provisions of this Agresment or by disclosure by any other
Person in violation of any contractual legal, or fiduciary obligation,

“Person” means an individual, & corparation, a parinership, a Hinited Hability company,
an association, a trust or any other entity or organization of any kind, including. wilhoul
limitation, a governmental authorily or agenay.

“Representative” with respect fo the either party, incans such party’s affiliates and the
respeeiive agents, members, managers, pariners, divectors, officers, employees and professional
advisors (including but not limited to attorneys, accouniants and financial advisors) of sach party
and its affiliates,

Bection 2. Apreement Not Lo Disclose or Use NeoStem Matenal,

(a)  Non-Disclosure of NeoStem Material. The Recipient shell not and shall cause its
Representatives not to, directly or indirectly, discloss, reveal, divulge, publish or otherwise make
known any of he NeoStem Material to any Ferson for any reason o purpose whalsosver, excepl
as provided in Section 2(c) oz Section 3 below. FExcept sz otherwise provided hevein, lhe
Recipient shall treat the WeoStem Material as confidential at ali thnes. The Recipient shall nol,
&end shall cause its Representatives not 10, make any copies of the NeoStem Material exeepl to
the extent ahsalutely necessary or required in conneclion with the Consulting Services.

{l) Limitatiens en Use of MeoSiem Material. The Recipient shall, and shall cause it

Representatives to, use the NeoStem Material solely for Use purpose of the Consulting Services
in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. The Revipient shell not, and shall cause its
Representatives not to, directly or indirectly, use, or permit any other Person to use, the NeoSiem
Material for any reason or purpose other than the Consulting Services or in any manner adverse
to, or to the detriment of, the Disclosing Party or its Representatives.

() Permilted Disclosure. MNotwithstanding the provisions of Section 2(a) above, the
Recipient may disclose the MeoStem Material to its Representatives who (x) need to know such
infonmation to enable the Recipient to perform ils responsibilities in connection with the
Consulting Services, (v) are informed of the confidential nature of the NeoStem Material and (%)
agree to be bound by the terms of this Agreement. Such Representatives may use the MeoStem
Material only in strict accordance with the provisions of Section 2(b} above. The Recipiont shall
be fully responsible for any breach of this Agreement by any of its Represemtatives.

(d} Ownership. The NeoStem Material 13 owned solsly and exclusively by the
Disclosing Party, shall remain the exclusive property of the Disclosing Party, and the Recipient
shall have nao right, title or interest in, to or under any of the NeoStem Material or any material
developed from the NeoStem Material,

Section 3.  Compelled Disclosure. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2 of
this Agreement to the contrary, if the Recipient or any of its Representalives are required to
disclose any NeoSem Material pursuant to any applicable law, rule or regulation, the Recipient
shall promptly notify the Disclosing Party in writing of any such requirement so that the
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Diselosing Party may seek an appropriale protective guder or otner appropriate remedy o waive
compliance with the provisions of (his Agreement.  The Reeipient shall, and shall causs its
Represeniatives 1o, reasonably couperate with the Disclosing Parly 1o obtain such a protective
otder or other remedy, IT such ocder or ether remedy is nol obtained, or (he Disclosing Party
waives compliance with the provigions of this Agreement, the Recipient and ite Representatives
shall disclose enly that portion of the NeoStem Material which they are advised by counscl in
writing that they are lepally required fo so disclose and shell oblain velizble assurance that
confidential treatment will be accorded the NeoStemn Material so disclosed.

Section 4. Rebun or Pestruction of MeoStern Materjal:  Lmmediately vpon the
request of the Disclosing Party, the Recipient shall. and shall cause ils Representatives (o, retum
to the Disclosing Party all NeoStem Material in tangible form (whether in wiitien fomy,
electronically stored or otherwise), and neither the Recipient nor any of its Representatives shatl
refain any copies thereof, In addition, all NeoStem Material in electronic form shall be deleled
frem the Recipicnt’s and its Representatives’ computer systems and from all baclke-up and archive
tapes so that nothing remains in electronic form that constitutes or contains NeoStem Material,
Upon the request of the Disclosing Party, the Recipiont shall cortify 1n witting such return to the
Disclosing Party, and such clectronic delzlion, in each case as required by this Section 4.

Section 5. DNo Agency Relatipnship. The Recipient shall not represent itself to bean
agent or employes of the Disclosing Party or 0 be rolated to the Disclosing Party other than as
an oulside advisor 1o or a stockholder of the Disclosing Party, BExcept Lo the extent expressly
authorized by the Disclosing Party in writing, the Recipient ig not awthorized 1o waive any right
of to incur, enter Into, assume, or create any debt, obligation, agreement or relgase ol any kind
whatsoever in the name of or on behalf of the Disclosing Party {or any alfiliate thereel) or i any
way to bind the Disclosing Party (or any affiliate thereof).

Section 6. [delsted.]

Section 7, [deleted. |

Section 8 Secusities Laws. The Recipient hereby acknowledges that it is aware, end
that Recipient shall advise its Representatives who are informed of the matters thal are fhie
subject of this Agreement, that the United States securities laws prohibit any person whe has
materizl, not-public information concerning an issuer from purchasing or selling scourilics of
such issuer or from communicating such information o any other persen when it ig reagonably
foreseeable that such ofher person is likely 1o purchase or sell such secwitics. The Recipient
covenants and agrees that it shall comply, and shall cause its Representatives v comply, with all
applicable securities laws, For the avoidance of doubt, it is acknowledged by the Recipient that
the NeoStem Malerial includes material, non-public information concering the Disclosing Party
and it is agreed that neither Recipient nor its Representatives shall trade in any secwities of the
Disclosing Party while in possession of such information.

Seetion 9. Miscellaneous.

(2)  Notices. All notices, requosts, demands and other communications to any party of
given under this Agreement must be in writing and delivered personally, by overnight delivery or
courier, by registered mail or by telecopier (with confirmation received) to the parlies af the
address or telecopy number specified for such parties on the signature pages hercto (or at such
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other address or telecopy number as may be specified by a party in writing given al least five
business days prior therete).

(b}  Counterparts, This Agreement may be sxecuted simultaneously in one or move
counterparls, and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, sach of which when
executed will be deemed an original, but alt of which taken together will constitute anc and the
same instriment.

()  Amendment of Agreemenl; Assigns. This Agreement may nol be amended,
modified or waived except by an instrument in wriling signed on behalf of cach of the partics
heveto. This Agreement shall be binding wpon, inue to the benefit of, and be enforceable by the
respective suecessors and permitied agsigns of, the parties herete. |

(d)  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be govermned by, end construed in
accordance with, the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts executed in and o be
performed entirely within that state, without refercnce to conflicts of laws provisions.

(&)  Waiver of Jury Trial EACH OF THE DISCLOSING PARTY AND THE
RECIPIENT HEREBY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO A TRIaL BY JURY IN ANY
LAWSUIT OR ACTION TO ENFORCE OR DEFEND ANY RIGHT UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT AND AGREES THAT ANY LAWSUIT OR ACTION WILL BE TRIED
BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY.

£ Submission to Jurlsdiction. Fach of the Disclosing Party and the Recipient
hereby (i) agrees that any lawsuit, proceeding or action with respect lo this Agreemsanl may be
brought only in the courts of the State of New Yotk or of the United States of Americe for the
Southern Distriet of New York, (it} accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and
unconditionally, the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts, (iii) irrevocably waives eny objection,
including, without limitation, any objection to the laying of venue or based on the grounds of
foram non conveniens, which it may now or hereafter have to the bringing of any lawsuil,
proceeding or action in those jurisdictions, and {iv) lrrevocably consents to the servies of process
of any of the courts referred to above in any lawsuil, proceeding or action by the mailing of
copice of the process to the parties hereto as provided in clause (a) above. Service effected as
provided in this manner will become effective ten calendar days afier the mailing of the process.

fg)  No Strict Construction.  This Apreement was negotiated fully and cqually
between the partics and their legal counsel, and any ambiguity in this Agreement shall notl be
construed against any particular party as a result of the drafting hereofl

[Signawre page follows]

e o




IN WITNESS WHEREOE, the partics hereto have caused this Agreement o be exceuied
as ofthe date and year first writlon above,

DISCLOSING PARTY:

Addd for Motices: NEOSTEM, INC.
42) Lexington Avenue, Suile 450

Mew York, Mew Yorlk 10170

Facsimile No. 1-046-607-4572 B3y

Hame: ‘J'.':l,.v.'L. o L B 4

Title: P oo e

RECIPIENT:

Address for Notizes: RIMASIA CAPITAL PARTNERS, L2

1807 Harbour Centre
25 Harbowr Road, Wancha

Hong Kong
Facgimile No.: 852-2970-007% By: RimAsia Capital Partners G, LP,
its general pariner

By: RimAsia Capital Payiners GP, Lid.
Itz peneral partner .
By:__..E A

Name: Erig FLC. Wei

Tiele: Director
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STOCK OPTION GRANT AGREEMENT
pursuant to the
NEOSTEM, INC. 2009 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN

THIS STOCK OPTION GRANT AGREEMENT (this “Grant Agreement”) is made and entered into by and between NeoStem,
Inc., & Delaware corporation (the “Company™) and you:

Name: «First_Mamewn «Last_Namen
Address: whddress Line 1w, aAddress Line 2w

Capitahized terms used but not otherwise defined hercin shall have the meanings as set forth in the NeoStem, Inc. 2009 Equity
Compensation Plan {the “Plan™). This Grani Agreement is subject to and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan,
which are incorporated herein by reference. The Plan controls in case of any conflict with this Grant Agreement, except as
otherwise specifically provided in the Plan.

The Company grants you an Option to purchase Common Stock of the Company, subject in all events to the terms and
conditions of the Plan and this Grant Agreement, as follows:

A DATE OF GRANT: «Gramt_Dates (“Grant Date™)

B, TYPE(S) OF OPTION: || Non-Qualified StockOption |
| | Incentive Stock Option _
C. TOTAL SHARES OF COMMON STOCK COVERED BY OPTION:
Tlason T
| abNQw |

D. EXERCISE PRICE OF OPTION: § «Exercise_Pricen per Share (the “Exercise Price™).
E. EXPIRATION DATE: «Expiration Dates
F. EXERCISE SCHEDULE: Except as otherwise provided in this Grant Agreement, on cach Vesting Date set forth

below, the Opiltm will become exercisable with respect to the number of Shares subject 1o the Option set forth below, pravided
that you remain in the continuous service of the Company as a Service Provider through that Vesting Date.

-

e e | SN ST AT S
| Numberof Shares | Vestin : | Stock | Qualified
- Subjectto Option that | | Options | Stock
| Become Exercisable on ions
S | Mesting Date: | : I -
| wGrant_IDw» | «Tranche In» | €Vesi_Date 1w |

i

| «Tranche 2» [ aVest_Date_In - ]

| «Trarwh-: £ «‘v’est Date_3n } - ]
| «Vest_Date 4» R Ao | e
_ | #Vest_Date S» . N | !
{ «Tranche 6» | «Vest Date 6n |

Options listed as Incentive Stock Options (“IS0s™) are intended, 1o the extent they so qualify, 1o be 150s as defined in Section
422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and any regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Code™). Under the
terms of the Code, all or a portion of the ISOs may not qualify as 1S0s and will be treated as Non-Qualified Stock Options.

G. EXERCISE OF OPTION FOLLOWING TERMINATION OF SERVICE: Except as otherwise provided in this
Gramt Agreement or by the Administrator, this Option shall terminate and be canceled to the extent not exercised within ninety
{90} days afier you cease to be a Service Provider, except that if you cease o be a Service Provider due to your death or
Disability, this Option shall terminate and be canceled twelve months afier you cease to be & Service Provider.
MNaotwithstanding the forcgoing, in the event that your service with the Company or any Affiliate is terminated for “Cause™ (as
defined in the Plan} or you voluntarily resign your service with the Company other than a3 a result of retirement, then, unless
otherwise provided in this Grant Agreement or by the Administrators, the Option shall immediately terminate on the effective
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date of your lermination of service and shall noi be exercisable for any period following that date. In no event, however, may
you exercise this Option later than the Expiration Date as provided above or exercise this Option for more Shares than the
Shares which otherwise have become exercisable as of the date you cease to be a Service Provider.

H. COVENANTS AGREEMENT. This Option shall terminate in the event that you breach any agreement between
you and the Company with respect to noncompetition, nonsolicitation, assignment of inventions and comtributions and/or
nondisclosure obligations.

I METHOD OF EXERCISE. You may exercise this Option by delivering to the Administrator an exercise notice (the
“Exercise Notice™) in such form as the Administrator may require, which shall state the clection 10 excreise the Option, the
number of Shares with respect to which the Option is being exercised {the “Exercised Shares”), and such other representations
and agreements as may be required by the Company or the Administrator pursuant io the provisions of the Plan. The Excrcise
Motice shall be accompanied by payment of the aggregate Exercise Price for the Exercised Shares. This Option shall be
deemed to be exercised upon receipt by the Administraior of the fully executed Exercise Motice accompanied by the aggregaie
Exercize Price.

I METHOD OF PAYMENT. You may pay the aggregate Exercise Price by any of the following methods, or a
combination of the following methods:

L. cash;

2, check; or

3 such other form of consideration as the Administrator shall determine in its discretion, provided that such

form of consideration is permitted by the Plan and by applicable law.

Upon your exercise of the Option and prior to the delivery of any Exercised Shares, the Company shall have the right to require
¥ou to remit to the Company cash in an amount sufficient 1o satisfy applicable Federal and state tax withholding requirements.

K. SECURITIES MATTERS. All Shares and Exercised Shares shall be subject to the restrictions on sale, encumbrance
end other disposition provided by Federal or state law. Meither the Company nor the Administeator shall be obligated to sell or
issue any Shares or Exercised Shares pursuant to this Grant Agreement unless, on the date of sale and issvance thereof, such
Shares or Exercised Shares are either registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and all applicable statc securities
laws, or are exempt from registration thereunder.

L OTHER PLANS. The income you receive, il any, in connection with this Grant Agreement and your exercise of the
Opticn shall not be considered compensation for purposes of any pension or retirement plan, insurance plan or any other
employee benefit plan of the Company or its subsidiaries, unless otherwise provided in such plan.

M. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; GOVERNING LAW, The Plan is incorporated hercin by reference. The Plan and this
Grant Agreement constitule the entire agreement between you and the Company with respect to iis subject matter and
supersede in their entirely all prior undertakings and agreements between you and the Company with respect to the subject
matter of this Grant Agreement. This Agreement may not be medified adversely to your interest except by means of a writing
signed by both you and the Company. This Grant Agreement is governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice
of law rules, of the State of Delaware.

By your signature and the signature of the Company's representative below, you and the Company agree that this Option is
granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Gramt Agreement. You represent that you
reviewed the Plan and ihis Grant Agreement in their entirety, that you had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior
to exccuting this Grant Agreement and that you fully understand all provisions of the Plan and this Grant Agreement. You
hereby accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions relating
to the Plan and this Granmt Agreement. You further agree to notify the Company upon any change in your residential address.

[signacure page follows




OPTIONEE NEOSTEM, INC.

aFirst Names «Last_Namen Print Name/Title

Signature Signature




GRANT AGREEMENT
pursuant to the
NEOSTEM, INC, 2009 NON-LLS, BASED EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN

THIS GRANT AGREEMEMT (the “Cirant_ Agreement”) is made and entered into by and between NeoStem, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company™) and the following individual:

MName: «First_Namen last_ Namen
Address: whddress Line_l», wAddress Line 2w

Capitalized terms used but not atherwise defined herein shall have the meanings as set forth in the NeoStem, Ine. 2009 Non-
LS. Based Equity Compensation Plan (the “Plan™). This Grant Agreement is subject 1o and governed by the terms and
conditions of the Plan, which are incorporated herein by reference. The Plan controls in case of any conflict with this Grant
Agreement, excepl as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan,

The Company grants you a Warrant te purchase Common Stock of the Company, subject in all events to the terms and
conditions of the Plan and this Grant Agreement, as follows:

A DATE OF GRANT: «Grant_Dates (“Grant Date™)

B. TOTAL SHARES OF COMMON STOCK COVERED BY WARRANT: «Granteds

C EXERCISE PRICE OF WARRANT: US$«Exercise_Pricen per Share (the “Exercise Price™).
D, EXPIRATION DATE: «Expiration Daten

E. EXERCISE SCHEDULE: Except as otherwise provided in this Gram Agreement, on each Vesting Date set forth
below, the Warramt will become exercisable with respect to the number of Shares subject to the Warrant set forth below,
provided that you have remained in the continuous service of the Company as a Service Provider through that Vesting Date,

" WamamNo | Nen-cumaiaiive Number of Shares Subiect 1o Wamant

| oGrant 1D»  |oTranche l» . [oVeDaml»
! o «Tranche 2n e |®VestDae2n
: | «Tranche _3» EST. L aVest Date 3n
«lranche 4 N | «Vest Date_dn
 «Tranche S»_ i | «Vest Date Sn
| «Tranche 60 _ | «Vesi Date fn_
F. EXERCISE OF WARRANT FOLLOWING TERMINATION OF SERVICE: Except as otherwise provided in

this Grant Agreememt or by the Administrator, this Warrant shall terminate and be canceled to the extent not exercised within
ninety (90) days after you cease 1o be a Service Provider, except that if you cease to be a Service Provider due 1o your death or
Disability, this Wamant shall terminate and be canceled rwelve months after you cease to be a Service Provider,
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that your service with the Company or any Affiliate is terminated for “Cause” (as
defined in the Plan) or you voluntarily resign your service with the Company other than as a regult of retirement, then, unless
otherwise provided in this Grant Agreement or by the Administrators, the Warrant shall immediately terminate on the effective
date of your termination of service and shall not be exercisable for any period following that date. In no event, however, may
you exercise this Warrant later than the Expiration Date as provided above or exercise this Warrant for more Shares than the
Shares which otherwise have become exercisable as of the date you cease to be a Service Provider.

G, COVENANTS AGREEMENT, This Warrant shall terminate in the event that you breach any agreement between
you and the Company with respect 10 noncompetition, nonsolicitation, assignment of inventions and contnbutions and’or
nondisclosure obligations.

H. METHOD OF EXERCISE. You may excrcise this Warrant by delivering to the Administrator an exercise notice
{the “Exercise Notice™) in such form as the Administrator may require, which shall state the election 1o exercise the Warrant,
the number of Shares with respect to which the Warrant is being exercised (the “Exercised Shares™, and such other
representations and agreements as may be required by the Company or the Administrater pursuant to the provigions of the Plan.
The Exercise Notice shall be accompanied by payment of the agprepate Exercise Price for the Exercised Shares. This Warrant
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shall be deemed to be exercised upon receipt by the Adminisirator of the fully execuied Exercisc Motice accompanied by the
aperegate Exercise Price,

I. METHOD OF PAYMENT. You may pay the aggregale Exercise Price by any of the following methods, or a
combination of the following methods:

1. cash;

2. check: or

3 such other form of consideration as the Adminiztrator shall determine in its discretion, provided that such

form of consideration is permitted by the Plan and by applicable law.

Upon your exercise of the Warrant and prior to the delivery of any Exercized Shares, the Company shall have the right to
require you to remit to the Company cash in an amount sufficient to satisfy any taxes required by the law of the nation in which
you provide services to the Company or one of its subsidiaries or affiliates and any other amounts which the Company
determines, in its sole discretion, are required to be withheld under any applicable law as a result of any action taken by you.

I SECURITIES MATTERS. All Sharcs and Exercised Shares shall be subject to the restrictions on sale, encumbrance
and other disposition provided by Federal, state andfor applicable foreign law. Meither the Company nor the Administrator
shall be obligated to sell or issue any Shares or Exercised Shares pursuant 1o this Grant Agreement unless, on the date of sale
and issuance thereof, such Shares or Exercised Shares are either registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
all applicable state and foreign securities laws, or are exempt from registration thereunder. Further, to the extent
applicable, you have undertaken or agree to undertake appropriate action to apply to and register with the State Administration
of Foreign Exchange for the People's Republic of China for approval of the Shares or Exercised Shares, and you will be solely
responsible for any and all potential legal and other consequences of mot doing so.

K. OTHER PLANS. The income you receive, if any, in connection with this Grant Agreement and your exercise of the
Warrant shall not be considered compensation for purpeses of any pension or retirement plan, insurance plan or any other
emplayee benefit plan of the Company or its subsidiaries, unless otherwize provided in such plan.

L. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; GOVERNING LAW. The Plan is incorporated herein by reference, The Plan and this
Grant Agreement constinute the entire agreement between you and the Company with respect to its subject matter and
supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements between you and the Company with respect to the subject
matter of this Grant Agreement. This Agreement may not be modified adversely to your interest except by means of a writing
signed by both you and the Company. This Grant Agreement is governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice
of law rules, of the State of Delaware,

By your signature and the signature of the Company’s representative below, you and the Company agree that this Warrant is
granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Grant Agreement. You represent that you
reviewed the Plan and this Gram Agreement in their entirety, that you had an opportunily to oltain the advice of counsel prior
to exceuting this Grant Agreement and thal you fully understand all provisions of the Plan and this Grant Agreement. You
hereby accept as binding, conclusive and [inal all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions relating
to the Plan and this Grant Agreement. You further agree to notify the Company upon any change in your residential address.

[signatire page folfows]




WARRANTEE NEOSTEM, INC.

Print Mame Print Name/Title

Signature Signature




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Robin Smith, M.D., certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NeoStem, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 16, 2010
/s/ Robin Smith, M.D.
Name: Robin Smith, M.D.

Title: Chief Executive Officer of NeoStem, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 302 has been provided to NeoStem, Inc. and will be retained by NeoStem, Inc. and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Larry A. May, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NeoStem, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 16, 2010
/s/ Larry A. May
Name: Larry A. May

Title: Chief Financial Officer of NeoStem, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 302 has been provided to NeoStem, Inc. and will be retained by NeoStem, Inc. and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of NeoStem, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robin Smith, M.D., Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company as of the dates presented
and the results of operations of the Company for the periods presented.

Dated: August 16, 2010
/s/ Robin Smith, M.D.
Robin Smith, M.D.

Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350,
Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) and is not being filed as part of the Form 10-Q or as a separate disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to NeoStem, Inc. and will be retained by NeoStem, Inc. and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of NeoStem, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Larry A. May, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended ; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company as of the dates
presented and the results of operations of the Company for the periods presented.

Dated: August 16, 2010
/s/ Larry A. May
Larry A. May
Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350,
Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) and is not being filed as part of the Form 10-Q or as a separate disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to NeoStem, Inc. and will be retained by NeoStem, Inc. and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




